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Girls attending Namalteny Public Primary School Turkana, Kenya. Photo credit GCN

Aidlink relies on the kindness and generosity of our donors to continue 
our work. We are extremely grateful to everyone who gave their time 

and support to Aidlink in 2021. The last two years have been extraordinary, 
as the Covid-19 pandemic has disrupted and impacted our lives and 

the world as we knew it. Our sincere thanks to all those who remained 
committed to Aidlink throughout this period. Thank you! Asanta Sana! 

Ashe Oleng! Alakara Noi! Webale Nyo! Go Raibh Míle Maith Agaibh!
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As we reflect on another 
challenging year, driven by major 
real-world issues like Covid-19 
and accelerating climate change, 
it is gratifying that Aidlink has 
succeeded in continuing its 
mission of supporting those 
communities who are already 
the furthest behind, and who are 
falling further behind.  

The challenges are many:

• Raising the necessary funds to make a real 
difference is a perpetual issue, especially as 
there are many just causes

• Covid-19 caused school closures in Africa and 
Ireland, impacting our school’s programmes 
and preventing our Irish schools having their 
transformative immersion experiences in Africa 

• Climate change means ever more frequent 
droughts, and then disastrous flooding when 
the rains eventually arrive

• Rising global food prices exacerbated by 
the war in Ukraine are severely affecting 
the livelihoods and food security of people, 
in particular the marginalised and rural 
communities in Africa. 

MESSAGE
FROM THE 
CHAIRPERSON

Aidlink’s lived values, the impact we are making 
and how Aidlink is different in its approach to 
other organisations.

Over the last 40 years, Aidlink has placed local 
partnership and local needs at the core of its 
approach. The report clearly shows the value 
of four decades of perfecting this approach, 
how building strong partnership relationships 
was key to the delivery of the project’s 
outcomes and highlights how this was 
amplified during Covid-19, by applying strong 
adaptive management techniques. 

I work with a highly talented and committed 
group of people who are involved in Aidlink 
as executive, Board and Friends of Aidlink. 
We are justifiably proud of Aidlink’s mission, 
values and achievements. We believe that 
there are many others whose lives would be 
enriched by joining the Aidlink family, and who 
could contribute to our mission. This year we 
launched the Friends of Aidlink so those people 
could be included more easily. If you’d like to 
help, why not become a Friend?

John Lynch
Aidlink Chairperson 

However, by remaining true to our principles, 
adjusting our activities where needed and 
with the assistance of our partners, colleagues, 
supporters and friends, 2021 was a successful year.

Last year we were very gratified that Irish 
Aid gave us the largest grant awarded under 
the Civil Society fund for a three-year period. 
Aidlink has given decades of support to 
delivering the Irish government’s overseas aid 
policies in practice, building a track record 
of lasting change and strong relationships in 
Africa and we see a strong alignment between 
our strongly held principles and current 
government policy. 

In 2021, we were thrilled to revive programmes 
in Uganda with existing partners and expand 
our programmes upon entering a new 
partnership with a local organisation called 
ARUWE (Action for Rural Ugandan Women’s 
Empowerment). 

We were delighted to announce this year that 
Aidlink have been awarded the Bank of Ireland 
Staff Charitable Fund special flagship project 
grant of €350,000 for a new ‘Let girls Learn’ 
project in Kenya, in addition to their support of 
other Aidlink programmes. We believe that this 
was because of our passion to make a difference, 
our deep knowledge of the issues and solutions, 
our strong and equal partners, and our track 
record of measurable long-term change. 

We also undertook an independent evaluation 
of our Kenya Inclusive Quality Education Project 
(KIQEP) 2018 - 2021 delivered in partnership 
with the Girl Child Network (GCN). The report 
gave us an independent, expert view on 

Key findings from the evaluation:

Relevance:  The project targets heavily disadvantaged 
communities that are highly vulnerable to humanitarian 
shocks including drought and food insecurity. The model 
used was comprehensive, incorporating interventions 
across four levels: the school, the community, the 
individual and civil society. Key stakeholders, education 
officials, students, teachers, Boards of Management (BoM), 
Community Facilitators (CFs) confirmed its relevance. 

Coherence: The project was fully aligned with national 
and county-level education priorities and plans. 

Efficiency: Delivery was timely and efficient. The project 
over-delivered against its work plan and budget, despite 
Covid-19 challenges, through effective coordination and 
planning and low delivery cost.  

Effectiveness: Almost all performance indicators 
were achieved at output level, demonstrating effective 
programme management and use of project funds.

Impact: The project delivered strong results at outcome 
level, with targeted schools assessed as achieving higher 
rates of re-enrolment post Covid-19 closures than 
non-project schools. Stakeholders interviewed spoke 
of increased enrolment and a gradual shift in attitudes 
around the value of education.

Sustainability: Project benefits will be sustained, but 
questions were raised here, particularly the effects 
of Covid-19 on school closures and the impact on Rights 
of the Child clubs (RoC). We will consider if there are ways 
to strengthen these issues as we currently complete our 
next 5 year strategy.

Anne Cleary, CEO Aidlink, meeting schools Board of Management members 
and community members in Turkana, Kenya. Photo credit GCN
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WHO
WE ARE 

20,000 children 
attending 44 primary 

schools received a 
daily meal in school in 
the last three months 

of 2021 as part of 
our school feeding 

programme.  
Lunchtime in Turkana, Kenya. 

Photo credit GCN 

Aidlink is a development organisation, striving 
to achieve gender equality and tackle poverty 
in Africa, while also raising awareness of 
global inequality in Ireland. Founded in 1982, 
Aidlink was formed by a group of volunteers 
in Dublin. Almost 40 years later, from a 
small HQ in Dublin, Aidlink works through 
partnering with local, African community-
based organisations to collectively deliver our 
work, empowering people to tackle poverty 
and catalyse change in Africa.   

From the outset, Aidlink was committed to supporting small-
scale, local development organisations based in Africa. This 
unique partnership model has always remained at the core of 
Aidlink’s work. By listening to the voices of the communities 
we work with, Aidlink and our partners strive to address the 
structural causes of inequality and poverty. 

Today, Aidlink operates in two programme countries: Kenya and 
Uganda. Aidlink delivers life-changing education, WASH (water, 
hygiene and sanitation) and agricultural programmes to the most 
marginalised and isolated communities.   

As Aidlink has adapted through the years, our ultimate goal 
has remained the same. We envisage a world where all people, 
especially women and girls, living in the poorest communities in 
Africa will be empowered to achieve healthy and fulfilling lives. 
Aidlink is particularly committed to supporting women and girls 
and tackling harmful cultural practices that impede on their 
education, agency, personal choice and basic human rights. 
We believe that by putting the furthest behind first – often girls – 
we can support entire communities’ growth.

Our Core Values

Partnership

Trust 

Equity

Honesty

Respect for 
Difference 

Solidarity
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HOW
WE WORK  

'There is currently a thrust towards increased localisation in the 
international aid sector – principles which are already routinely 

practiced by Aidlink. Aidlink’s well-documented and comprehensive 
approach to partnership, combined with extensive, practical 

experience render it an important source of expertise in this area.' 
External evaluation of the Kenya Inclusive Quality Education Project (March 2022)

Peris Mootian and Eunice Ateyo GCN (above), Anne Cleary CEO Aidlink and Ikal Angelei Director FoLT (below) 
at partner meeting in Turkana, February 2022. Photo credit GCN 

Aidlink works with local partners to support communities 
in Kenya and Uganda, with a focus on gender equality, 
education, and sustainable livelihoods. Aidlink empowers 
communities to take greater control over their lives and 
livelihoods. Our partners are on the ground, supporting 
the world’s poorest people and increasing the resilience of 
marginalised communities.

We have always placed local partnership, and locally 
designed and managed responses, at the centre of our 
approach. For almost 40 years, Aidlink has worked through 
partnership, forging relationships with local organisations 
and building their capacity to become development leaders. 
We believe this is the most sustainable and effective 
way to bring about lasting and positive change. This 
proven approach is impactful, pragmatic, and allows for 
responsiveness and flexibility in times of change.

Through our work with local groups, we harness local 
knowledge and resources to support communities and 
encourage local ownership over projects to guarantee 
sustainability. Together we ensure communities are heard 
and that solutions support families to take greater control 
over their lives. 

In 2021, we continued working with our key partner in 
Kenya; Girl Child Network (GCN). In Uganda, we initiated 
new projects with our longstanding partners Voluntary 
Action for Development (VAD) and Caritas Maddo, and 
established a new partnership with Action for Rural 
Women’s Empowerment (ARUWE). We also formally 
collaborated with community-based organisations 
Friends of Lake Turkana (FoLT) and Amani Kibera in 
Kenya, and continued our engagement with membership 
organisations at home and abroad, including PELUM 
Kenya and Uganda, Dóchas (Irish Association of 
Non-Governmental Development Organisations), Charities 
Institute Ireland, The Wheel, the Irish Development 
Ecuation Association and developmenteducation.ie. 

Girl Child Network (GCN) is an independent 
membership non-government organisation 
working to empower girls, boys, youth and 
young women to learn and lead by upholding 
and advocating for the rights of children and 
young people in Kenya. GCN’s development 
programmes are a highly acclaimed for their 
gender-sensitive and rights-based approach.

Voluntary Action for Development (VAD) 
is a non-profit, indigenous, non-government 
organisation working to improve the livelihoods 
of poor and disadvantaged communities 
through the implementation of health, 
livelihood, education and human rights advocacy 
programmes in north-eastern Uganda.

Caritas MADDO is the development office of 
the Diocese of Rakai and Masaka in southwest 
Uganda. Their work focuses on improving 
people’s access to sustainable, safe water and 
sanitation, and improving food security. 

Action for Rural Women’s Empowerment 
(ARUWE) is a not-for-profit indigenous 
organisation who envision a world where 
women and girls realise their full rights and 
dignity; and strive to empower women and girls 
to manage and participate in their own socio-
economic development processes through 
strengthening community participation, 
advocacy and service delivery. 

Friends of Lake Turkana (FoLT) is a grassroots 
indigenous organisation that works with and 
on behalf of communities within the greater 
Turkana basin, Kenya, to demand collective 
social, economic, cultural, environmental, and 
territorial justice.

Participatory Ecological Land Use Management 
(PELUM) Kenya & Uganda PELUM Kenya is a 
network of 56 member organisations working to 
promote agroecological principles and practices 
through advocacy and policy influence, 
networking, capacity development, information, 
and knowledge sharing. PELUM Uganda, with 
a membership of 64 local organisations, works 
to strengthen members’ capacities to build 
resilience of farming communities.  

Irish Networks and Consortia In Ireland, 
Aidlink is a member of Dóchas - the Irish 
Association of Non-Governmental Development 
Organisations, Charities Institute Ireland, 
The Wheel, The Irish Development Education 
Association, and is a founding member of 
www.developmenteducation.ie.

Thank you to all our partners for 
your dedication and commitment 

to our collective effort in supporting 
communities most in need

www.developmenteducation.ie
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THE KENYA INCLUSIVE 
QUALITY EDUCATION 
PROJECT 2018-2021
2021 marked the end of Aidlink’s flagship, three-
year Kenya Inclusive Quality Education Project 
(KIQEP) co-funded by Irish Aid. Over the course 
of the project, 20,837 children from 57 schools 
were supported to access quality and inclusive 
primary education.  

The external end-of-project evaluation, 
conducted in early 2022, found that the project 
had largely achieved its targets, enabling 
schools to become more child, gender and 
disability-friendly, and empowering families 
and communities to embrace education for 
all children, especially girls and children with 
disabilities.  

Key Target Programme Goal Actual Result

Over 3 years

48
Schools meet the UNICEF standards of a 

child-friendly, gender-sensitive and disability 
friendly school

57

1,820 
795 boys, 1,025 girls

Children trained on child rights and 
empowered to engage in education 

 1,920 
720 boys, 1,200 girls

58% % proportion of community able to identify 
human and child rights 55%

416 Community Conversations held 
692

21,461 community members 
sensitised

240 Out-of-school children supported to re-enrol 
in education 603

The evaluation report highlighted the success 
of Aidlink and GCN’s adaptive management 
approach in response to the Covid-19 crisis. The 
strength of the Aidlink partnership model, and 
the trust built up with communities, allowed the 
project to respond with agility during lockdowns 
and school closures, as demonstrated with the 
rapid redirection of emergency school-feeding 
to the home, and training of local volunteers as 
community health advocates. The results also 
indicated strong local ownership, participation 
and leadership at a local level and showed that 
the programme goals were highly aligned 
to Kenya policy framework and supported 
government efforts. 

Girls from Olotiko Primary School, Kajiado, Kenya. Photo credit GCN
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WHERE WE WORK  

Kajiado & Turkana 
KENYA

Karamoja & Buganda
UGANDA

Aidlink operates in four regions in Kenya 
and Uganda - Kajiado and Turkana in Kenya 
and Karamoja and Buganda in Uganda. Kajiado, 
Turkana and Karamoja are the traditional 
home to nomadic pastoralist communities; 
the Masai in Kajiado, the Turkana people in 
Turkana and the Karamojong in Karamoja.
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Africa

Gender Equality Education Livelihoods Emergencies

Aidlink and our partners 
are working to address 
the barriers that keep 
girls from attending 
school and flourishing in 
society. We are working to 
promote gender equality 
and further rights-based 
education in communities. 
Students and teachers 
are trained to support 
a learning environment 
and communities are 
sensitised on the harm of 
cultural practices like early 
marriage and Female Genital 
Mutilation (FGM). Through 
our community volunteers, 
we are working to identify 
out-of-school children, 
particularly girls and children 
with disabilities, and support 
them to enrol back in school. 

Aidlink works to provide 
better education and increase 
enrolment and retention in 
schools. There are a number of 
different reasons why children 
are not in school, and we work 
to remove some of those 
obstacles. We provide access 
to water on school grounds 
or within walking distance 
so that thirst, or the work 
required to fetch water, does 
not keep children from school. 
We build inclusive bathrooms 
with disability access and 
handwashing facilities, as well 
as changing rooms, and supply 
sanitary pads. We provide 
school meals to thousands 
of children, so that hunger 
is not a reason to miss class. 
We establish clubs that teach 
children about their rights 
and sensitise communities on 
the value of education, and 
the harm of some traditional 
cultural practices. 

Aidlink works to support 
families to develop 
sustainable agricultural 
practices. We work with 
pastoral communities who 
are smallholder farming 
families to ensure that 
they have the knowledge 
to produce and use plants 
for food, fuel and land 
restoration. We deliver 
training on business 
management, nutrition 
and finance as well as other 
skills key to sustainable 
agriculture.

Aidlink’s key strength is our 
partnership approach; the 
longstanding relationships 
and trust we have built with 
local NGOs and communities. 
In times of crises, our partner 
NGOs are on the ground 
ready to respond to the 
needs of the communities 
we serve. Through drought, 
floods or political strife, we 
provide a range of supports 
to affected communities 
including food, clean 
drinking water, sanitation, 
basic health materials and 
access to public health 
information. 

Ireland

Schools Volunteers
Aidlink has operated a unique development education 
immersion programme since 2004. Our immersion programme 
enriches the lives of participating students and contributes to 
building a socially conscious constituency of young people who 
are committed to the principles of social justice, and who are 
attuned to the issues of international development. During the 
Covid-19 pandemic, we were unable to carry out immersion 
programmes due to restrictions on travel and health risks. We 
continued to engage with partner schools virtually through 
the provision of development education resources and we look 
forward to relaunching this programme in 2023. 

Aidlink is fortunate to have committed volunteers who raise 
awareness of global issues when they fundraise and take 
part in our events. They bring home the adage ‘think global, 
act local’. We are incredibly proud of our volunteers for the 
work they do for the most vulnerable in Africa and for their 
support during the pandemic. 

WHAT WE DO   

Lake Victoria
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Trained Board of Management member speaking to community members in Kajiado, Kenya. Photo credit GCN

2021
HIGHLIGHTS  
KENYA | UGANDA

20,000+
children received a 
daily meal in school 

in the last 3 months of 2021 

15,984 
children and their 
families supported 

in Kenya

28 
public primary 
schools more 

child-friendly and 
gender-sensitive

14 Kajiado, 14 Turkana

56
handwashing 

stations   
 in schools

23
girl and 

disability-friendly 
latrine blocks 
installed in public 
primary schools

16 
water tanks  

 in schools

40
community 
facilitators 

trained
and led community 

conversations

4
community farms 

established 

248
young mothers 
and pregnant 

girls supported to 
return to school  
(57 schools) following 
prolonged Covid-19 

closures

2
rainwater 

harvesting tanks   
providing 2 schools 

and 1,000 students with 
water on site

2
shallow wells 

providing 1,460 people 
access to clean water

4
boreholes

providing 
approximately 3,000 
people access to safe 

and cleaner water

2
semi-permanent 

classroom 
blocks built 

benefitting 900 students
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In Kenya circa four million, or one in five women and girls 
have been subjected to Female Genital Mutilation (FGM). 

As families return to traditional practices to alleviate lockdown 
poverty as a result of Covid-19 restrictions, this number rises as 

high as 94% in some communities in Kajiado, Kenya.
UNICEF 2021

Income

Irish Aid Foundations, 
Trusts & 
Corporations

Immersion* Fundraising

€608,724

€665,065

€650,1762021

2020

2019

Irish Aid income

23%

Foundations, Trusts & 
Corporations income

5%

Fundraised income 

6.5%* Covid-19 restrictions resulted in no immersion trips, partner schools 
continued to raise funds

Expenditure

Programme expenditure 
in Kenya & Uganda 

24%

Total expenditure

10%Development 
Programmes

Development 
Education

Raising Funds*

€579,723

€721,108

€635,7702021

2020

2019

Programme expenditure 
in Kenya

Programme expenditure 
in Uganda

16%

48%

Programme Expenditure

Kenya Uganda Ghana

€474,902

€563,612

€589,3302021

2020

2019

2021
INCOME & 
EXPENDITURE 
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KENYA 
COUNTRY PROFILE 
& PROGRAMMES 

Country Profile

Despite positive economic, social and political 
developments in Kenya in recent years, poverty, 
inequality and the extreme impact of climate change 
remain as major challenges. The Covid-19 crisis and 
ensuing lockdowns has severely impacted the Kenyan 
economy, eroding much of the progress made in the 
fight against poverty over the last decade.  

At the end of 2021, 16% of Kenya’s population were living below the poverty 
line on less than $1.90 US Dollars per day, most of whom live in the remote 
Arid and Semi-Arid regions (ASAL) regions, including Turkana County and 
Kajiado County. 

Aidlink’s work targets the Masai and Turkana living in these ASAL regions. 
These communities are among the poorest and most marginalised people 
in Kenya. Both the Masai and Turkana are nomadic pastoralists and rely on 
their cattle for survival. In 2021, the devastating impact of climate change 
continued to ravage these counties, particularly Turkana, where the worst 
drought in decades prevails. Drought, which previously occured every 
10-15 years has occured annually for the last four years, decimating the 
livelihoods of the already vulnerable communities. 

On 8 September 2021, Kenyan Government declared a national emergency 
in the wake of two consecutive poor rainy seasons in the ASAL regions. 
At the time of writing, a fourth season of failed rains leaves 3.5 million 
people, including 542,000 children, food insecure and suffering from acute 
malnutrition in the country.  

Covid-19 and the ongoing severe drought have compounded the 
challenges experienced by girls from Kajiado and Turkana. Both the Masai 
and Turkana are patriarchal, polygamist societies, with women and girls 
often limited to domestic roles and denied ownership of livestock and 
property. 

Lockdown poverty and prolonged drought has forced many families to 
marry off under-age daughters to ease expenses and there has been a 
considerable increase in the number of girls undergoing Female Genital 
Mutilation (FGM) as communities return to harmful traditional norms. 

In times of drought, the burden of collecting water often falls on women 
and girls, who are currently walking distances of up to 30km to fetch water. 
These long journeys and absence from school expose women and girls to 
the risk of gender-based violence and sexual assault.  

Finally, domestic issues such as high inflation and the upcoming general 
election in August 2022 have increased security threats, as electioneering 
is creating societal tensions. High inflation rates and the impact of the war 
in Ukraine are causing the price of basic commodities such as food, fuel, 
gas and electricity to rise, disproportionately affecting the low- and middle-
income populations’ ability to buy food. 

over

20,000
children 

supported with 
school feeding 

programme  

Increase 
on 2020 
total spend

16%

Total spend 
delivering 

programmes to 
some of the 

most vulnerable 
people in Kenya

2020
€434,261

2021
€505,240

circa

15,984
children and 
their families 

supported

Woman collecting water, Turkana. Photo credit GCN
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KENYA COUNTRY PROFILE & PROGRAMMES 
Continued

KENYA COUNTRY PROFILE & PROGRAMMES 
Continued

The generosity of all 
our donors and the 
commitment of our 

partners enables 
Aidlink to continue 
our work in Kenya.

Thank you. 

Programme Overview

Schools in Kenya reopened in January 2021, and 
together with our partners, we welcomed back 
a total of 15,984 children to 28 primary schools. 
The addition of 8 schools (4 in Kajiado and 4 in
Turkana) included in the Kenya Inclusive Quality
Education programme was made possible as a 
result of favourable exchange rate gains. We spent 
€505,240 on programmes to educate, empower and
enable the poorest and most excluded children.

Girls in Namalteny Public Primary School, Turkana, Kenya. Photo credit GCN

Children returned to school in January 
2021 after nine months of school closures. 
Prolonged closures in target communities 
in Kajiado and Turkana resulted in unusual 
enrolment patterns. We are seeing higher 
enrolment rates in lower classes and increased 
dropout rates in higher classes. There is 
mounting evidence of increased rates of 
FGM, child marriage, teen pregnancies and 
gender-based violence (GBV). From January 
to June 2021, we introduced a care package in 
57 schools, facilitating 248 pregnant girls and 
young mothers to re-enrol in school. 

While uptake was strong in target schools, 
nationally there are approximately 
250,000 girls who have not yet returned to 
school. 

In May 2021, we launched a new three-year 
programme Every Girl in School (EGIS), 
supported by Irish Aid, which targets 20 new 
schools and approximately 7,554 children in 
Kajiado and Turkana in 2022. This programme 
builds on important learnings from our recent 
evaluation and is being implemented across 
four levels: the school, the communuty the 
individual and civil society. 

Target Key objective Result

20 Target schools are more child-friendly, 
gender sensitive and disability friendly 28

800 
Children, particularly girls and those with 

disabilities, are informed and empowered to 
defend their rights and engage in education 

 1,120 

120 
Pregnant and teen mothers supported to 

return to school 248

4,160
Community members are informed and 

empowered to protect human rights, 
including child rights and women’s rights 

5,454

4 Improved livelihoods of target communities 
through creation of community farms 4



Aidlink Annual Report 2021  |  21

KENYA COUNTRY PROFILE & PROGRAMMES 
Continued

UNICEF 2021 survey on out of school children in Kenya reveals 
the main challenges for bringing children back to school 

include negative attitudes, poverty, insecurity and nomadic 
lifestyle and that one in seven girls cited pregnancy as a reason 

for dropping out. 
Girls in Namalteny Public Primary School, Turkana, Kenya. Photo credit GCN
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In 2021, Aidlink supported 28 primary schools in 
Kenya (14 Kajiado, 14 Turkana) to become more 
child-friendly and gender-sensitive, supporting 
15,984 vulnerable children and their families. 

Basic water and sanitation facilities are key to 
enabling children, in particular girls, to attend 
school. In times of drought, the burden of 
collecting water often falls on girls. In Turkana, 
distances to water have risen to up to 30km 
following four years of prolonged drought. This 
time away from school, impinges girls’ right 
to education and puts them at increased risk of 
gender-based violence (GBV). 

In 23 public primary schools (11 Kajiado, 
12 Turkana), girl and disability friendly latrines 
were constructed. 56 handwashing facilities 
(28 Kajiado, 28 Turkana) and 16 water tanks 

(7 Kajiado, 9 Turkana) were installed in target 
schools. We are seeing increased enrolment 
in target schools (20% Kajiado, 30% Turkana), 
however higher enrolment rates in lower classes 
and lack of re-enrolment in higher classes 
indicate that communities have returned to 
negative traditional practices such as Female 
Gentile Mutilation (FGM) and early marriage. 

1,120 children, 40 from each of our 28 target 
schools joined Rights of Child Clubs and 
were trained on child rights, with a focus 
on protection and gender equality. This 
knowledge of child rights enables children 
to recognise the harmful impact traditional 
cultural practices such as FGM and early 
marriage and empowers them to combat 
these norms. 

Gender Equality

28 schools supported to be 
more child-friendly and gender 
sensitive. In 23 of these public 
primary schools (11 Kajiado, 
12 Turkana), girl and disability-
friendly latrines were constructed.

Latrine in Lorengippi Primary School Kajiado, Kenya. 
Photo credit GCN
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Once these girls have 
been beaded, their wish 
to go to school is denied. 

Instead, they are kept 
at home and prepared 
to become wives and 

take on the challenges 
that come with marriage. 

Their parents only see 
them in terms of how 

many animals they will 
bring. Many of our sisters 

and other girls in our 
community can never 
go to school because 

they have already been 
beaded by their parents 

and are waiting to be 
married off.

Cynthia, Head Girl of Morulem Primary 
School and a member of the Rights of 

Child Club in the school 

CASE STUDY 
Children Challenging 
Early Child Marriage 

Parents in Turkana can betroth their daughters for 
marriage at a young age. A man pays a dowry and waits 
until she is about 10 years old to make her his bride. The girl 
child has no say in this decision. Pressures due to drought, 
economic insecurity and Covid-19 are influencing more 
parents to return to this practice.  

Despite the child’s basic right to education being part of 
the regulatory framework of the Kenyan Constitution, this 
right continues to be denied to many children, especially 
those from marginalised, nomadic pastoralist communities. 

Rights of Child Clubs (ROC clubs) form an integral part 
of Aidlink’s gender and education programmes and aim 
to tackle this issue. Children are trained to promote and 
protect child rights and share their knowledge with fellow 
students, their family members and the wider community 
in an effort to sensitise them on the child’s right to 
education. 

“We speak to our peers in school every day about the 
benefits of education. Our voices are being heard and we 
are starting to see girls come back to school. We thank Girl 
Child Network and Aidlink for the training on our rights 
and for working with our community.”

Simon, a member of the ROC club in Morulem Primary School

Young girl betrothed for marriage, 
Turkana, Kenya. Photo credit GCN

Beading is a harmful tradition practiced in Turkana that 
promises a girl for marriage. Girls are often beaded between the 
age of 9-12 and not allowed to go to school. A beaded girl fetches 

double the dowry of a non-beaded girl. While the practice 
is outlawed, extreme poverty has kept the tradition alive. 

Girl betrothed for marriage, Turkana, Kenya. Photo credit GCN
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I live in a community 
where many believe 
education is only for 

the boy child. And if all 
should have a right to 
go to school, then only 
one girl in a family will 

be allowed to do so. 
The others are forced to 

remain at home because 
they will be expected to 

bring wealth to the family 
through marriage. And it 
doesn’t matter how old 

the girl child is.

James Ewoton, Community Facilitator

Community Facilitator James Ariong
 Ekodan from Nayanaekaton Public Primary 

School, Turkana East, Turkana, Kenya. 
Photo credit GCN

In 2021, all 28 Aidlink target schools ranked 
"satisfactory" or above on UNICEF’s Child 
Friendly Monitoring Tool. In 20 schools (10 
Kajiado, 10 Turkana) students received a daily 
school meal in the last quarter of 2021. Aidlink 
recognise that school feeding is a critical pull 
factor leading to improved attendance and 
retention of children in school. 

We trained 1,136 (698 Male/438 Female) 
Board of Management (BoM) members on 
policies and legal frameworks and assisted 
28 schools in developing child-centred School 
Development Plans. Aidlink supported 40 BoM 
members, from multiple target schools, to 
participate in a peer-network bi-annual forum, 
sharing key learning and enhancing the future 
sustainability of project activities. 

In 2021, 40 new Community Facilitators 
(20 Kajiado, 20 Turkana) were trained to 
work within their own community and lead 
Community Conversations to challenge 
negative social norms and practices that 
exclude or discriminate against girls and 
children with disabilities. 243 community 
gatekeepers (114 Kajiado, 120 Turkana) 
(community leaders who hold a significant 
degree of influence) were trained to advocate 
for the rights of children, especially girls 
and children with disabilities. 

Education

180 community conversations 
were held in target communities, 
sensitising 5,454 (2,629 Male/2,825 
Female) people on the negative 
impact of harmful traditional 
practices and norms that exclude 
and discriminate against girls and 
children with disabilities. 

Community Conversation Kajiado, Kenya. 
Photo credit GCN

CASE STUDY 
Male Champion of Child Rights  

James Ewoton, now a trained community facilitator, leads 
community conversations in which he discusses the social 
challenges facing his community. These community 
conversations focus on key issues such as the enrolment 
and retention of girls and out of school children, the high 
prevalence of teenage pregnancies and the right of children 
with disabilities to an inclusive education.

For many years, James never questioned traditional 
community practices that excluded girls from education. 
This changed following his participation in trainings on 
child rights and child protection conducted by Girl Child 
Network in his community in October 2021. 

“The training built my capacity further and gave me the 
courage to move from household-to-household sensitising 
people, and I am happy that now many people in my 
community know about girl child education and rights of 
children, especially those with disabilities, to education. To 
date, I have supported 10 girls who were out of school and 
marked for marriage to re-enrol”.

In his role of community facilitator, James regularly speaks 
to community members about child rights. He describes his 
response to opposition in the community:

“Most of my peers opposed my actions, they rehashed the 
culture to me and reminded me of how poor I will be if I let 
all my children go to school because my daughter will give 
me no dowry and my sons will not be able to look after my 
animals. I used the knowledge that I got from Girl Child 
Network and continuously emphasised the rights of a child 
to education and the benefits that comes with education”.
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For the nomadic pastoralists of Kajiado and 
Turkana, agriculture, in particular livestock 
keeping, is the main economic activity and 
source of income. As delayed rains exacerbate 
extreme drought, the livelihoods of the 
Turkana and Masai are under imminent threat 
as cattle die and land and water sources go dry. 

The prolonged drought is creating 
unprecedented cases of malnutrition and 
acute hunger. In 20 target communities 
(10 Kajiado, 10 Turkana), school Boards of 
Management, Community Facilitators and 
community members were trained in Disaster 
Risk Reduction. These trainings taught learners 
how to respond to and mitigate against 
drought impact, and encouraged members 
participation in country government forums 

Turkana and Kajiado are susceptible to 
frequent natural disasters and outbreaks 
of disease, resulting in already vulnerable 
communities losing their livelihoods and 
pushing families further into poverty. At the 
time of writing, four consecutive rainy seasons 
have failed in Kenya, which can be directly 
attributed to the global climate crisis. 

In response to the climate-induced drought, 
Aidlink increased and extended its school 
feeding programmes to include a total of 

to lobby for an increase in local disaster budget 
in their counties.

With hunger as one of the main barriers 
to education, 4 community farms were 
established (2 Kajiado, 2 Turkana) in 2021. This 
new initiative moves away from the school 
gardens approach in previous programmes 
and mobilises parents and community 
members to work together on shared 
farms. The shared farm model engages four 
school communities in clusters and in line 
with PELUM Kenya and the Department of 
Agriculture recommendations, promotes 
alternative livelihoods, improves household 
food security, nutrition and income and further 
enhances the sustainability of school feeding 
programmes. 

44 schools and approximately 20,000 school 
going children for an extra three months. 
Food was distributed in November and 
December 2021 ensuring that children received 
a daily meal during the acute dry period in 
the run up to Christmas. Food was distributed 
in November and December 2021 ensuring 
that children received a daily meal. This 
school feeding programme provided critical 
nutrition and protection for children and led to 
the increased enrolment of 3,437 children.

Livelihoods

Approximately 3.5 million 
people in Kenya, including 
542,000 children are food 
insecure and suffering from 
acute malnutrition.

Emergencies

Severe drought continued to devastate the lives 
of the rural and marginalised in Kenya in 2021 
resulting in food shortages, loss of cattle and crop 
failure, particularly in the Arid and Semi-Arid (ASAL) 
regions of Turkana and Kajiado. In response, in the 
run up to Christmas 2021, Aidlink school feeding 
programmes supported 20,000 children with what 
was for many, their only daily source of nutrition.

Cattle, Lioma sub-county, Turkana. 
Photo credit GCN

Boy collecting water, 
Turkana. Photo credit GCN
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UGANDA 
COUNTRY PROFILE 
& PROGRAMMES 

Country Profile

The mainly rural population of Napak district 
Karamoja, and the Masaka and Kyankwanzi districts 
Buganda, traditionally depend on livestock and crop 
production for survival. 

The onset of the Covid-19 pandemic in March 2020 resulted in wide scale 
government restrictions including the closure of schools and restrictions on 
movement, meetings, and trading across Uganda. The rural communities 
in Napak, Masaka and Kyankwanzi have been disproportionately affected 
by these measures, particularly the Karamojong in Napak who traditionally 
rely on movement in search of pasture for their animals. These challenges, 
compounded by protracted rains, a prolonged national water crisis, flash 
flooding and local insecurity further hindered development and reduced 
access to food, causing a rise in hunger and malnutrition.   

Schools in Uganda remained closed for the whole of 2021. National 
elections in early 2021 were marred by violence and further delayed the 
re-opening of schools. Prolonged school closures have severely impacted 
children’s numeracy and literacy skills with many facing the risk of never 
returning to school, falling into child labour, poor mental health and sexual 
exploitation. 

The impact of the last two years have resulted in extreme lockdown- 
poverty in target communities. Pressures on income and food insecurity 
increase the likelihood of girls being married off for a dowry and never 
returning to school. In Napak, Masaka and Kyankwanzi, the task of 
collecting water is traditionally given to girls and often requires walking 
long distances, resulting in extended periods of absence from school. 
This task also exposes women and girls to potential acts of gender-based 
violence (GBV), including physical and sexual assault. 

GBV has been labeled by some as the ‘shadow epidemic’ in Uganda. It is 
reported that 22% of women in Uganda have experienced some form of 
GBV during the lockdown. Between March 2020 and June 2021, Uganda 
has reported a  22.5% increase in pregnancies among school-going girls 
and young women aged 10-24. 

Increase 
on 2020 
total spend

48%

Total spend 
delivering 

programmes to 
some of the 

most vulnerable 
people in Uganda

2020
€40,641

2021
€84,090

6,360
people 

supported with 
access to clean 

water

The Covid-19 pandemic resulted in school closures in Uganda for almost 
all of 2020 and 2021. The world’s longest shutdown has left schools in crisis 

and children at risk. The estimated learning deficit is 2.8 years. When 
schools re-opened in January 2022, many children were unhappy to return 

to their pre-pandemic grades, grades they feel they have outgrown.
Students return to Bbaale primary school, Masaka, Uganda. Photo credit Caritas Maddo



Aidlink Annual Report 2021  |  30 Aidlink Annual Report 2021  |  31

UGANDA COUNTRY PROFILE & PROGRAMMES 
Continued

UGANDA COUNTRY PROFILE & PROGRAMMES 
Continued

The generosity of all 
our donors and the 
commitment of our 

partners enables 
Aidlink to continue 
our work Uganda.

Thank you. 

Programme Overview

Almost 40% of Ugandans still live on less than a dollar a day, in addition 
to struggling to find clean water. In 2021, the national water crisis in 
Uganda continued, leaving approximately 24 million people without 
access to clean water. Sources of clean water are essential for drinking, 
cooking, farming and general personal hygiene. A scarcity of clean 
water negatively impacts the economy and propels the cycle of poverty.

In 2021, our programmes in Uganda focused on supporting vulnerable 
people, especially women and girls living in remote and marginalised 
communities, to have improved access to clean, safe water, hygiene 
and sanitation (WASH) facilities. Specific focus was placed on providing 
these basic facilities close to schools to encourage and incentivise the 
re-enrolment of students, especially girls, when schools opened in 
January 2022. 

In 2021, we revived and expanded our programmes 
in Uganda. We continued our work in Napak, 
Karamoja, re-established our programmes in 
Masaka and launched a new programme in 
Kyankwanzi, Buganda, supporting a total of 6,360 
vulnerable men, women and children with access 
to safe and clean water.

In Napak Karamoja, 3 boreholes were 
constructed providing 2,144 people access 
to safe and cleaner water within 2km of 
their homes. Water User Committees were 
established and trained on the operation and 
maintenance of the borehole and pump in 
each community. In Masaka, 2 shallow wells 
were protected providing 1,460 people with 
access to clean water.

As a result, water collection is now taking less 
time, reducing the burden, particularly on 
women and girls, and allowing time to be spent 
on other activities such as farming and schooling. 
Local access to water is also contributing to 
improved domestic hygiene and sanitation, 
reducing the spread of common diseases 
associated with drinking unsafe, dirty water and 
contributing to Covid-19 safety measures. 

Livelihoods

Approximately 3.5 million people 
in Kenya, including 542,000 
children are food insecure and 
suffering from acute malnutrition.

Livelihoods

Approximately 24 million 
people are living without basic 
access to clean, safe drinking 
water facilities in Uganda. Water 
is essential in allowing children, 
families and whole communities 
to develop and thrive. 

Children washing hands in school in  Kyankwanzi, 
Buganda, Uganda. Photo credit ARUWE

Target Key objective Result

1,272 Primary school children attending child 
friendly and gender sensitive schools  2,544 

2,300 
Vulnerable people, especially women and 
girls, have improved access to clean, safe 

water, sanitation and hygiene 
 3,000

Children collecting water 
from newly constructed 

borehole, Karamoja, Uganda. 
Photo credit VAD
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My school has a nice 
latrine with a bathing 

shelter where girls have 
privacy, especially 

during menstruation, 
where they can change. 

Having a borehole 
in school has made 

life a lot easier. 
We have clean water 
to drink and use for 

cooking, which makes 
us healthier.”

Anna

Photo: Anna, St Maria Gorreti 
Community Primary School Napak, Karamoja, 

Uganda. Photo credit VAD

CASE STUDY 
Water in School 

Anna is 13 years old and attends St Maria 
Gorreti Community Primary School Napak, 
Karamoja, Uganda. Anna’s school is 2km 
from her home and has a gender-sensitive 
latrine and a borehole. 

Anna is confident that once she finishes primary school 
she will continue to secondary school. “When I grow up, 
I want to be a teacher. Teachers are very well respected in 
our community, and they are very smartly dressed!”

Some of Anna’s peers are not in school “Some parents keep 
their children at home, you find boys grazing cattle and 
girls fetching water and doing other household chores.” 
This upsets Anna as she wants all children her age to come 
to school, be in a safe environment and enjoy their right to 
education.

With the aim of reducing the burden of water 
collecting and the risk that it carries for girls, 
we provided water in schools to increase the 
buy-in for girl child education and improve 
whole communities’ access to water. 

In Kyankwanzi, Buganda, 1 borehole and 
water pump were installed in a primary school 
providing 644 children and their families 
with access to water. 2 rainwater harvesting 
tanks were installed in two schools in Masaka, 
Buganda, providing 1,000 students with 
water on site. In Napak, Karamoja, 2-semi 
permanent classroom blocks (structures made 

from timber, with an iron roof and cemented 
base) were built creating a safe and 
protected learning space for 900 students. 

“Now, I am going to love my school more 
because one of the biggest barriers at school 
has been solved. I don’t have to spend my 
break and lunch time trekking to the pond to 
fetch water anymore. I can actually get time 
to rest and feel refreshed during my lessons. 
I am so happy!” 

Sarah, a pupil from a target school in Buganda 
shared when the water was first pumped from the 
new borehole.  

Education

Girls are disproportionartely 
affected by water and sanitation 
shortages, making it harder 
for them to attend school and 
lead safe, productive and 
healthy lives.  

UGANDA COUNTRY PROFILE & PROGRAMMES 
Continued

Girls in St. Mark Kaiungatuk Primary School, 
Karamoja, Uganda. Photo credit VAD
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2021 was yet another challenging 
year for fundraising as Covid-19 
restrictions limited our ability 
to engage in events such as 
the Vhi Mini Marathon, music 
concerts and immersion trips. 
To all donors who continued 
to support us – thank you from 
everyone at Aidlink.

We would like to say a special 
thank you to the staff and 
students from Blackrock College 
and St. Mary’s College Rathmines 
who participated in their Rock 
Run and 5km sponsored run. In 
the context of Covid-19, these 
fundraising events were a huge 
support to Aidlink.

PUBLIC
ENGAGEMENT 

PUBLIC ENGAGEMENT 
Continued 

Events
Despite being locked in a digital space, we 
continued to link communities and engage 
with our partners and the public. Highlights 
include our International Women’s Day 
webinar in March 2021. Panellists included 
Mercy Musomi CEO of Girl Child Network 
(Kenya), Agnes Mirembe, CEO of ARUWE 
(Uganda) and Oonagh Kelly, HR Leader and 
Executive, Bank of Ireland (Ireland). They 
discussed the next steps for gender equality 
in the global north and south and the 
importance of women’s empowerment as we 
emerge from the global pandemic with an 
audience of friends and supporters in Ireland.

In June 2021 Aidlink and Girl Child Network 
facilitated a virtual stakeholder meeting on 
the theme of Programming in communities: 
Covid-19 Recovery – an Opportunity for 
Gender Equality. Participants included the 
Ministry of Education Kenya, the Kenya 
Institute of Special Education, the Kenya 
National Commission for UNESCO, Sustainable 
Approaches for Community Empowerment 
(SAPCONE), National Council for Nomadic 
Education in Kenya (NACONEK) and PELUM 
Kenya. Participants presented an overview 
of the impact of Covid-19, coupled with the 
prolonged drought within target communities. 
Following a morning of lively discussion and 
learning all participants agreed that ongoing 
collaboration is critical in addressing the 
considerable challenges facing women and 
girls post pandemic. The stakeholders agreed 
to strengthen engagement and committed to 
bi-annual learning and sharing meetings. 

Development Education 

Since 2004, Aidlink’s immersion programme 
has been central to our development 
education work. We provide an opportunity 
for Irish secondary school students to travel to 
Kenya, Uganda and Ghana and attend school 
so that they can learn about the culture, 
traditions, society, as well as the challenges, 
of communities living in extreme poverty. 
Although no immersion trips were carried out
in 2021, we continued to engage with students
in Ireland, and we thank our partner schools in
Ireland, including Blackrock College, St. Mary’s
College Rathmines, St. Joseph’s Secondary
School Rush and Loreto High School Beaufort,
for their continued support.

Despite the cancellation of immersion 2021, 
students from Blackrock College and Holy 
Ghost School Kenya, took the initiative 
to engage in a ‘remote immersion project’. 
Through a series of online workshops 
and interviews, students in Ireland and 
Kenya interacted and learned about each 
other’s cultures, hobbies, similarities and 
differences and presented outcomes to senior 
management and staff in both schools and 
other key stakeholders. Congratulations to 
both teams and our thanks to the in-school 
coordinators Ms. McGuire (Blackrock College) 
and Mr. Cosmos (Holy Ghost School Kenya). 

Aidlink continues to participate in the 
developmenteducation.ie consortium.
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LOOKING
FORWARD  

2021 was an important year for 
both reflection and planning 
for Aidlink. The Kenya Inclusive 
Quality Education Project came 
to an end in June and we 
launched our new Every Girl in 
School Project in July. As Aidlink 
looks towards the future, we 
are optimistic and committed 
to continuing to deliver life-
changing interventions targeting 
some of the world’s poorest and 
most isolated communities. 

A formal external evaluation of the KIQEP was 
conducted in early 2022, and examined both 
project impact and the effectiveness of the 
Aidlink-GCN partnership. We are heartened 
by the positive results, validating not only the 
benefits experienced by target communities, 
but also recognising the unique strength of 
Aidlink’s long-standing localisation agenda 
through our partnership model. 

Key recommendations from the evaluation are 
helping shape and strengthen the new Every 
Girl in School Project (2021-2024), co-funded by 
Irish Aid’s Civil Society Fund. A 23% increase on 
the previous funding cycle further validates the 
impact of Aidlink’s approach and enables us to 
reach more children, targeting 60 schools and 
over 20,000 children over the next three years.  

Following a competitive process, Aidlink 
secured a significant grant of €350,000 from 
the Bank of Ireland Staff Charitable Fund to 
deliver a new project in Kenya in 2022. The Let 
Girls Learn Project was launched in the second 

quarter 2022 and engages 15 public primary 
schools in new target communities in Turkana 
and Kajiado, Kenya. Activities will include 
core improvements in infrastructure with the 
addition of classrooms and 2 dormitories, one 
in each county, which we believe will contribute 
to increased enrolment and retention, 
especially for at-risk girls, by providing a safe 
and secure learning environment during term 
and the holiday periods. 

2021 saw the revival of projects in Uganda 
and the establishment of new partnerships. 
In 2022 we will work to expand this work with 
our three Ugandan partners by implementing 
gender, education and WASH programmes, 
targeting rural communities. 

We have commenced the process of 
developing a new strategic plan, building 
on our learning to-date. Early developments 
suggest the new strategic plan will be dynamic 
and responsive, reflecting the need for Aidlink 
to continuously innovate and adapt to meet 
the needs of the communities we serve.   

While we are excited for the future, challenges 
remain. In target communities, prolonged 
school closures throughout the Covid-19 
pandemic have driven already at-risk children, 
particularly adolescent girls, out of education. 
The realities of the climate crisis, and 
current severe drought means that already 
impoverished communities are facing extreme 
hunger and potential famine, further risking 
opportunities and the protection of rights 
of girls and women. At home, fundraising 
remains challenging with competing crises 
both at home and abroad.  

We are however ready to rise to meet these 
challenges. The key take-away from the recent 
evaluation is that localisation through our 
partnership model is effective and successful, 
an approach garnering momentum across the 
sector. In 2022 we plan to increase our efforts 
to explore and develop new partnerships 
with small NGOs that share our values 

and goals. Finally, we are looking forward 
to reviving our development education 
immersion programme with partner schools 
in Ireland, Kenya, Uganda and Ghana 
after a two-year hiatus due to Covid-19 
restrictions.  

Mother bringing her children to Olotiko Primary School, Kajiado, Kenya. Photo credit GCN
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Kenya records the third highest teenage pregnancies 
worldwide, with one in five adolecent girls aged 15 to 19 already 

mothers or pregnant. Many of these pregnancies are a result 
of gender-based violence and early marriage. 

Kenyan Ministry of Health 2022
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Aidlink is a small charity with a big impact. 
There are three full-time staff in our 
headquarters in Dublin, with oversight from 
Aidlink’s Board of Directors.

Our work is guided by, and strictly adheres to, best-practice 
codes and policies. They shape our organisation, ensuring that 
we stay true to our values and remain accountable to our donors, 
supporters and the communities we serve. The Board of 
Directors of Aidlink is proud to apply and comply with the 
Charities Regulator Code of Good Governance. Aidlink has been 
recognised for its commitment to a high standard of good 
governance, accountability and transparency. Aidlink won 
The Carmichael Centre’s Good Governance Awards in 2017 and 
2018, and was shortlisted in 2019. Aidlink was also a winner of 
The Chartered Accountants Ireland Leinster Society’s Published 
Accounts Awards 2017, 2018 and 2019 and again shortlisted in 2021.

STRUCTURE, 
GOVERNANCE & 
MANAGEMENT  

John Lynch (Chairperson)
John is CEO at SelfSense Technologies and 
works as a Non-Executive Director, Business 
Consultant and mentor. Previously he was 
CEO at Merrion Pharmaceuticals plc and has 
worked in the USA, UK and Ireland.

Liam Byrne (Treasurer)
Liam was educated at University College 
Dublin and qualified as an Accountant with 
PwC. Prior to co-founding his own firm, 
he worked in a number of finance roles in 
New Zealand, the USA, France, England and 
Ireland.

Aishling Lennon (Secretary) 
Aishling currently works for Dublin City 
Council as part of the Environment and 
Transportation Department. She holds 
a BA in History, Politics and International 
Relations from University College Dublin 
(2010). Aishling is a former Aidlink employee, 
having worked at the organisation from 
2014-2018.

Eoghan Caffrey (Director)
Eoghan is a Policy Specialist at The Central 
Bank of Ireland. He holds a Masters in 
Development Studies and before joining 
the Central Bank, spent 5 years working in 
International Development on programmes 
spanning urban and rural Africa and Asia. 

Marion Shaw (Director)
Marion is a qualified Human Resources 
professional and Business and Executive 
coach, with extensive leadership and 
management development experience 
working in an international organisation in 
the private sector. She has previously spent 
some time working in Africa.

Brian Ingarfield (Director)
Brian is an experienced General Manager 
having previously occupied leadership 
roles in technology, travel, logistics, retail 
and franchised businesses in Ireland, the 
UK, Spain and Italy. Brian holds a Master’s 
in Business from the Irish Management 
Institute. 

Seán Crowe (Director)
Sean is the Principal at CFS Consulting, 
completing advisory engagements for 
financial institutions and corporates in 
respect of strategy, M&A and treasury 
activities. Sean has held a number of senior 
roles in the banking, insurance and asset 
management industries, including CEO of 
the Markets Division and Member of the 
Executive Committee of Bank of Ireland 
from 2014-2020. 

Ciarán Ó Muirthile (Director)
Ciarán is a Senior Manager at Google Ireland, 
where he is currently heading up the New 
Customer Onboarding team for Europe, the 
Middle East and Africa. He has worked at 
Google in Ireland and abroad for 14 years in a 
variety of advertising and marketing roles. He 
holds a BA International from UCD and a Higher 
Diploma in Business Enterprise from DCU. 

Margaret O’Donoghue (Director)
Margaret has worked in secondary education 
as both Teacher and Guidance Counsellor for 
many years. She served as Principal of Loreto 
High School, Beaufort, until the summer of 
2019. She is currently working with iScoil, a 
specialist educational support service for 
teenagers who cannot manage mainstream 
education. She holds a BA (Mod) from Trinity 
College in History and German, a Higher 
Diploma in Career Guidance and Counselling 
from UCD and a Masters in Educational 
Leadership, awarded by UCD.

Annet Evara (Director)
Annet is a Senior Banking Supervisor at 
the Central Bank of Ireland. She previously 
worked for The European Central Bank, The 
Bermuda Monetary Authority and Ernst 
& Young in Bermuda and Kenya. She is a 
Chartered Financial Analyst, a Certified 
Public Accountant, certified Financial Risk 
Manager by GARP and also holds B.Com in 
Accounting.

Eoin Martin (Director)
Eoin is Strategic Planning Director for the 
Middle East, India and Africa with Kerry 
Group, based in Dubai, UAE. He has worked 
in the Irish agri-foods industry across sales, 
marketing and strategy for over 15 years 
across Europe and Russia, where he studied 
and worked for five years. Eoin holds a BA 
in European Studies from Trinity College 
Dublin and an MBA from Michael Smurfit 
Graduate Business School, UCD.

1 advancing its 
charitable purpose

2 behaving with 
integrity

3 leading people

4 excercising
control

5 working 
effectively

6 being accountable 
and transparent

The six principals of the Charities Governance Code

Aidlink’s Members
Aidlink’s Members protect the organisation’s core ethos and philosophy. They meet once a year at 
Aidlink’s Annual General Meeting. An Extraordinary General Meeting of Aidlink was held on 19 April 
2021 where a new constitution was adopted. 

3
full-time staff

11
Board of Directors

STRUCTURE, GOVERNANCE & MANAGEMENT  
Continued

Aidlink’s Board of 
Directors
Aidlink’s Board is committed 
to upholding the highest 
standards of corporate 
governance and ensuring 
Aidlink successfully delivers 
its mission, sets its strategic 
direction and upholds its core 
values through leadership and 
financial oversight. 

Board of Directors at the 
date of approval of the 2021 
Financial Statements were:
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STRUCTURE, GOVERNANCE & MANAGEMENT  
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Committees of the Board
Our dedicated board of directors are also members of various subcommittees alongside 
Aidlink staff and volunteers. Committees of the Board meet between two and six times per year as 
necessary. There are six subcommittees: Audit and Risk Committee, Remuneration and Director 
Performance Review Committee, Governance and Nominations Committee and Programme 
Committee, Fundraising Committee and Communications and Engagement Committee. Formal 
Terms of Reference are adopted by each subcommittee focused on their remit. 

1 BOARD

6 Subcommittees

Audit & Risk

Renumeration 
and Directors 
Performance 

Review

Governance 
& Nominations Programme Fundraising Communications 

& Engagement

Subcommittees Achievements 2021

Revised and 
updated risk 
policy, new 

register developed 
in line with the 

charities regulator 
guide.

Assisted in 
successful 

recruitment.

Active targeted 
recruitment plan, 

appointment 
of 2 new board 

members, 
strengthened 

subcommittees.

Oversight 
of successful 

proposal submission 
to Irish Aid and 

Bank of Ireland Staff 
Charitable Fund, 

oversight of flagship 
project evaluation 
and due diligence 

review and approval
of new partner 

organisation (ARUWE).

Updated Terms 
of Reference, 

developed and 
adopted new 
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strategy 2021-2024.
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December 2021 
and currently 
working on 

communications 
strategy 

development.
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FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS 

Name Attendance Appointed Latest date for retirement
John Lynch 11/11 2017 2026
Liam Byrne 11/11 2014 2023

Brendan Feehan*  1/2 2014 2021

Aishling Lennon 10/11 2020 2029
Seán Crowe 9/11 2018 2027
Eoghan Caffrey 10/11 2017 2026
Marion Shaw 9/11 2015 2024
Margaret O’Donohue 11/11 2019 2028
Brian Ingarfield 9/11 2017 2026
Ciarán Ó Muirthile 10/11 2019 2028
Annet Evera    3/3** 2021 2030
Eoin Martin    3/3** 2021 2030

Average attendance 89%

* Brendan retired March 2021
** Annet and Eoin appointed October 2021
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DIRECTORS’
REPORT  
For the financial year ended 31 December 2021

The Directors present their annual report and the 

audited financial statements of Aidlink for the financial 

year ended 31 December 2021. This report presents the 

information and disclosures required by a Directors’ 

Report under the Companies Act 2014, together 

with additional information required by the Charities 

Statement of Recommended Practice applicable to 

charities preparing their accounts in accordance with the 

Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and 

Republic of Ireland (FRS 102) (effective January 1, 2015).

WHO WE ARE 

Aidlink is a company limited by guarantee, not having 

a share capital, incorporated in Ireland in 1982 under 

the Companies Act and registered in Ireland with 

registration No. 124133. Every member of Aidlink 

undertakes, if necessary, on a winding up during the 

time they are a member or within one year after they 

cease to be a member, to contribute to the assets 

of Aidlink an amount not exceeding €1.00. Aidlink’s 

governing document is its Constitution as amended 

by special resolution on April 19, 2021.

Under the provision of Section 1180 of the Companies 

Act, 2014, Aidlink is exempt from including ‘company 

limited by guarantee’ in its name.

Aidlink is a charity registered with the Charities 

Regulatory Authority, registered charity No: 20022730, 

and has been granted tax exemption by the Revenue 

Commissioners in Ireland, registered charitable 

taxation No: CHY 9078.

REFERENCE AND ADMINISTRATIVE DETAIL

Registered office:
Terenure Enterprise Centre, 17 Rathfarnham Rd, Terenure, 
Dublin 6W, D6W X921

Our advisers

Auditors:
Woods, Delaney and Partners Limited t/a ND Audit & Advisory
42 Grattan Street, Portlaoise, Co. Laois, R32 HR62  

Solicitors:
Arthur Cox, Earlsfort Centre, Earlsfort Terrace, 
Dublin 2, D02 CK83

Bankers:
Bank of Ireland, 28 Main Street, Blackrock, 
Co Dublin, A94 D890

Key management personnel 

Directors of the company and the Chief Executive Officer

Directors:
The Directors serving during the year and since the year 
end were as follows:
Liam Byrne 1 (Treasurer) 
Eoghan Caffrey 4

Sean Crowe 5, 6

Annet Evara 1 (Appointed September 27, 2021) 

Brendan Feehan 1 (Retired March 1, 2021)

Brian Ingarfield 3, 5 
Aishling Lennon 1, 5 (Appointed January 1, 2021, 
Company Secretary March 1, 2021)

John Lynch 2 (Chairman)

Eoin Martin 6 (Appointed September 27, 2021)

Ciaran Ó Muirthile 5, 6

Margaret O’Donoghue 5

Marion Shaw 5, 6

Chief Executive Officer:
Anne Cleary

Committees of the Board  
1 Member of the Audit and Risk Committee        
2 Member of the Remuneration and Director’s Performance 

Committee  
3 Member of the Nominations and Governance Committee 
4 Member of the Programme Committee
5 Member of the Fundraising Committee
6 Member of the Communications and Engagement Committee
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OBJECTIVES AND ACTIVITIES

Aidlink exists to improve the lives 

of those living in poverty in Africa 

by empowering local partners and 

communities to take charge of their 

own development and achieve 

healthy and fulfilling lives. 

Our programmes aim to deliver 

lasting change. By listening to the 

voices of communities, and through 

our partnerships, we work to address 

the structural causes of inequality 

and poverty. We believe that by 

putting the furthest behind first – 

often girls – we can support entire 

communities’ growth; supporting 

and strengthening African Non-

Governmental Organisations (NGOs) 

to enable them to take a leading role 

in tackling the issues they are facing.

Our programmes focus on:

Gender Equality

Aidlink and our partners are working 

to address the barriers that keep 

girls from engaging fully with and 

flourishing in society. We are working 

to promote gender sensitivity and 

further rights-based education in 

communities. In school, students, 

teachers and Boards of Management 

are trained to support a child-friendly 

learning environment; communities 

have been sensitised on the harm 

of cultural practices such as early 

marriage and Female Genital 

Mutilation (FGM). Women’s groups 

are trained on human rights and 

leadership skills to empower them 

to be more engaged in family and 

community decision making.  

Education

Aidlink works to remove some 

of the obstacles that prevent 

children from going to school and 

to increase enrolment, retention 

and performance in schools where 

we work. We provide access to 

water on school grounds, build 

gender-sensitive inclusive latrines 

which include a changing room 

for girls with disability access and 

handwashing facilities. We provide 

school meals to thousands of 

children so that hunger is not a 

reason to miss class. We sensitise 

communities on the value of 

education and the damage of 

harmful cultural practices.

Livelihoods

Aidlink works to support families 

to develop sustainable agricultural 

practices. We work with pastoral 

communities, smallholder farming 

families and others, to ensure that 

they have the knowledge to produce 

and use plants for food, fuel, and 

land restoration. We deliver training 

on business management, nutrition, 

and finance as well as other skills 

key to sustainable agriculture. 

Emergencies

Aidlink’s core strength is our 

partnerships. In times of crisis, 

together with our partners, we 

respond to the needs of the most 

vulnerable and provide a range of 

support to affected communities: 

food, clean drinking water, 

sanitation, neccesary healthcare 

materials, training on disaster risk 

reduction and access to information.

The impact of Aidlink’s work is 

measured against targets using a 

Results-Based Management system, 

assessed against Aidlink’s Strategic 

Plan, and benchmarks agreed 

with Irish Aid. Regular monitoring 

and evaluation are carried out by 

both local partners and Aidlink staff.

The on-granting of funds to local 

partners is subject to annual 

project agreements with each 

local partner. Partners implement 

Aidlink’s programme at the local 

level, ensuring community-led 

interventions, the sustainability of 

the programme, and delivering the 

best value for money for both donors 

and beneficiaries. 

Aidlink’s 2021 expenditure on 

Charitable Activities, including 

on-granted funds, development 

education activities and the 

relevant support costs, amounted 

to €607,528 (2020: €555,828), 

96% (2020: 96%) of Aidlink’s total 

expenditure for the year. A total 

of €452,850 (2020: €376,016) of 

expenditure on Charitable Activities, 

was on-granted to partners in Kenya 

and Uganda to deliver programme 

activities at the local level. A 

further €18,197 (2020: €80,926) of 

expenditure on Charitable Activities 

relates to Aidlink’s development 

education activities. 
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ACHIEVEMENTS AND 

PERFORMANCE

2021 was both a challenging and 

rewarding year for Aidlink as we 

continued to navigate the impact 

of the global Covid-19 pandemic 

and severe drought in Kenya.  

Schools reopened in Kenya in 

January 2021 and, together with our 

partners, we welcomed children 

back to school after 9 months 

and a return to a new normal in 

programme delivery. In Ireland, 

staff continued to work remotely 

and despite ongoing challenges in 

fundraising, the support and loyalty 

of our donors ensured we not only 

maintained but increased overall 

income and reach. As a result, core 

programme objectives were met 

with increased activity among 

targeted communities in Kenya, and 

the reestablishment of partnerships 

in Uganda.  

Aidlink’s primary focus in 2021 

was on the poorest and most 

excluded communities in Kenya, 

particularly girls and women from 

the nomadic pastoralist Masai 

and Turkana communities. The 

Kenya Inclusive Quality Education 

Project (KIQEP) funded by Irish 

Aid (2018 – 2021) came to a close in 

June 2021. Favourable exchange 

rates gains facilitated the inclusion 

of an additional 8 schools (4 in 

Kajiado and 4 in Turkana counties) 

resulting in a further 2,269 children 

and their families benefiting from 

the programme. An end of project 

evaluation commenced in late 2021 

with initial findings indicating timely 

and efficient project delivery with 

strong results at outcome level.

In May 2021, Aidlink successfully 

secured a new three-year grant 

from the Irish Aid Civil Society Fund 

scheme totalling €380,000 per 

annum for the Every Girl in School 

(EGIS) project in Kajiado and Turkana 

Counties. This is a 23% increase 

on the previous Irish Aid funding 

grant. This EGIS project targets 

20 new schools with a student 

population of 10,009 children. EGIS 

builds on learnings from KIQEP 

and incorporates interventions 

across four levels: the school, the 

community, the individual and civil 

society.

Irish Aid funding carries significant 

restrictions and conditions. 

These include the requirement to 

contribute 30% to the Every Girl In 

School project from Aidlink’s own 

resources. Irish Aid recognises that 

the EGIS project entails significant 

inputs from the Dublin office and 

these costs are considered to be part 

of Aidlink’s EGIS contribution.

Building on the positive results 

achieved through our partnership 

since 2003, the Girl Child Network 

remains our key partner in the 

implementation of the Every Girl in 

School project supported by Irish 

Aid’s Civil Society Fund.

Schools in Kenya reopened in 

January 2021 following prolonged 

closures due to Covid-19. The impact 

of these closures continues to be 

felt in target communities. While we 

are recording increased enrolments 

across all target schools, 30% in 

Turkana and 20% Kajiado, we are 

seeing higher enrolment rates 

in lower classes with increased 

dropout rates in the higher classes. 

With mounting evidence of 

increased rates of child marriage, 

teen pregnancies, gender-based 

violence (GBV) and FGM a care 

package introduced in 49 targeted 

schools provided supports to 248 

young mothers and pregnant girls 

to facilitate their re-enrolment in 

school. While strong uptake was 

seen initially, severe drought has 

resulted in communities returning to 

traditional practices that negatively 

affect the girl child. Aidlink will 

continue to work with communities 

to tackle negative practices and 

support the girl child to thrive and 

participate fully in the community.  

The Kenyan Government declared 

a state of emergency in September 

2021 due to the severe and 

protracted drought in the Arid and 

Semi-Arid Land (ASAL) regions. In 

response, Aidlink scaled up its school 

feeding programme to include 44 

schools. Food was distributed in 

November and December 2021 and 

at its peak over 20,000 children 

received a daily meal in the 4-6 week 

period leading up to Christmas. 

In Uganda, schools remained 

closed until January 10, 2022, due to 

government Covid-19 restrictions. 

With funding support from 

Foundations, Trusts, and Corporate 

Groups, Aidlink continued our 

engagement with communities in 

Karamoja through our partnership 

with Voluntary Action for 

Development. Aidlink re-established 

programme activities with Caritas 

MADDO in Masaka district, and 

entered into a new partnership with 

ARUWE, working together to improve 

access to water for communities 

across Uganda. These projects 

prepared schools for their reopening 

following their prolonged closures. 

Key elements of the 2021 

programme of work included:

• Expansion of the Kenya Inclusive 

Quality Education programme 

to 8 new schools (4 in Turkana 

& 4 in Kajiado, Kenya) targeting 

2,269 children. The school 

feeding in November/December 

2021 resulted in an increase in 

enrolment to 3,437 children (GCN). 

• Launch of Every Girl in School 

Project in 20 schools (10 in 

Turkana & 10 in Kajiado, Kenya) 

reaching 12,547 children and their 

families (GCN).

• 3 boreholes Karamoja, Uganda 

providing 2,144 people access to 

safer cleaner water closer to their 

homes (VAD).  

• 2 semi-permanent classroom 

blocks built in Karamoja, Uganda 

providing a learning space for 

900 students (VAD).

• 2 shallow wells providing 1,460 

people access to clean water in 

Masaka, Uganda (Caritas MADDO).

• 2 rainwater harvesting tanks 

providing 2 schools, 1,000 

students, with water on site in 

Masaka, Uganda (Caritas MADDO).

• Drilling and instillation of a 

borehole and water pump 

supporting 644 school children in 

Kyankwanzi, Uganda (ARUWE). 

The full extent of the impact of 

Aidlink’s 2021 programme is yet to be 

realised. Programme achievements 

to-date include:

Gender Equality

• 23 girl and disability-friendly 

latrine blocks installed in public 

primary schools (12 Turkana, 

 11 Kajiado). 

• 16 water tanks (9 Turkana, 

 7 Kajiado) installed in target 

schools (GCN).

• 340 community gatekeepers 

(133 female/207 male) trained 

to advocate for the rights of 

children, especially girls and 

children with disabilities (GCN).

• Care package introduced in 

 49 KIQEP schools supported 

 248 young mothers and pregnant 

girls return to school following 

prolonged Covid-19 closures (GCN). 

• Aidlink partners advocated 

for better policy and services 

provision for education, access to 

water and drought mitigation. 

Education

• 28 primary schools (14 Turkana, 

 14 Kajiado) supported to create 

 a more child-friendly and 

gender-sensitive school for 

 15,984 students (GCN).

• 40 Community facilitators were 

trained (20 Turkana, 20 Kajiado) 

(GCN).  

• 56 Handwashing facilities 

installed in target schools 

 (28 Kajiado, 28 Turkana) (GCN).

• 6 handwashing stations installed 

in 6 Universal Primary Education 

(UPE) in Masaka, Uganda 

 (Caritas MADDO).

• 2 semi-permanent classrooms 

built, providing a more child-

friendly learning environment 

for 900 students in Karamoja, 

Uganda (VAD).

• 2 rainwater harvest tanks installed 

in 2 Universal Primary Education 

(UPE) schools in Masaka, Uganda 

(Caritas MADDO).

• 1 borehole drilled and hand pump 

installed providing water to one 

primary school with more than 

600 students and its community 

in Kyankwanzi, Uganda (ARUWE).

Livelihoods

• 4 community farms established 

(2 Kajiado, 2 Turkana).

• 3 boreholes drilled and pumps 

installed in 3 communities in 

Karamoja, Uganda (VAD).

• 2 shallow wells protected, and 

hand pump installed providing 

water to 2 communities in 

Masaka, Uganda (Caritas MADDO). 

Emergencies

• 44 public primary schools in 

Kenya supported with school 

feeding programme in November/

December 2021 reaching over 

20,000 students (GCN).
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

  31 Dec 2021  31 Dec 2020 

  € €

RESULTS   

Net income/(deficit) for the financial year 14,405     29,001    

AIDLINK 2021 INCOME

Increase on 2020

6.8%
Total 2021 income

€650,176 

IRISH AID AND OTHER INCOME DONATION AND LEGACIES

Net income for the financial year 

was €14,405 (2020: €29,001). 

Total 2021 income of €650,176 is 

up €41,452 on 2020. Aidlink was 

successful in an application to Irish 

Aid’s Civil Society Fund in respect 

of our ‘Every Girl In School’ project 

(2021-2024). An amount of €380,000 

per annum has been approved for 

three years, this is a €70,000 per 

annum increase on Aidlink’s Kenya 

Inclusive Quality Education Project 

(2018-2021). 

Aidlink drew down year one of 

Irish Aid’s Civil Society Fund. The 

conditions of this contract mandate 

that the funding be allocated to 

the Every Girl In School project 

in Kajiado and Turkana counties, 

Kenya. This programme was 

delivered in conjunction with our 

long-term partner, The Girl Child 

Network.

Income from Foundations Trusts 

and Corporate Groups (FTC) 

increased slightly at €156,044 

(2020: €148,447). 

Every euro collected by Aidlink 

comes from the Irish public either 

directly, through membership 

of FTCs, or through taxpayers 

contribution. The Board of Aidlink 

and Aidlink’s partners remain 

grateful for the support of the Irish 

people.

Expenditure on other charitable 

activities increased from €474,902 

(2020) to €589,331. This reflects an 

increase in programme expenditure; 

Kenya up 16% from €434,261 (2020) 

to €505,240 due to funds carried 

forward and Uganda up 48% from 

€40,641 (2020) to €84,091 in 2021. 

Immersion costs fell from €80,926 in 

2020 to €18,197 in 2021, this reflects 

the lack of immersion programme 

in 2021 due to the global pandemic 

crisis. 

Included within expenditure on 

charitable activities and on raising 

funds were support costs of €181,973 

(2020: €152,054). Support costs 

include all Irish based costs on staff, 

premises, and operating expenses. 

This increase partly reflects the 

absence of the government 

Temporary Wage Subsidy Scheme 

which was received in 2020. Despite 

this increase Aidlink is not back to 

2019 level of support costs (€199,242). 

Aidlink moved premises in the 

fourth quarter of 2021 and expects 

to see a reduction in premises costs 

from 2022 onwards. These costs 

are met from Aidlink’s unrestricted 

income, including Irish Aid’s 

administration funds. 

The contract period for the Irish 

Aid Civil Society Fund grant is July 

to June while Aidlink reports on a 

calendar year. While Irish Aid’s total 

funding of €380,000 was received 

during the 2021 calendar year, a 

balance of €176,203 is included in 

restricted funds at year end. Under 

accounting standards, this balance 

was included in the Restricted 

Income for 2021. This balance has 

been on-granted in full to the Girl 

Child Network and will be included 

in 2022 reports.

2021 saw a total decrease in net 

income from €21,906 (2020) to 

€14,405. This €20,745 decrease in 

unrestricted funds can be attributed 

to the lack of immersion programme.  

Restricted funds at the year end were 

€213,446. These are funds that must 

be allocated per the donors’ wishes.

Reserves

Aidlink defines its reserves as its 

total unrestricted funds. These 

unrestricted reserves represent 

those resources that the company 

can use for any of its charitable 

purposes. The Board aims to 

maintain its total unrestricted 

reserves level at a minimum of six 

months head office operating costs.  

This threshold has been set 

following an assessment of the 

following factors:

• The need to provide short term 

protection against downward 

fluctuations in annual incoming 

resources;

• The need to provide long term 

strategic financial support to 

Aidlink’s partners;

• The need to finance unplanned 

projects where the need arises; 

and

• The need to provide a financial 

cushion in the event of extreme 

circumstances affecting the 

company’s ability to operate.
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At the end of 2021, Aidlink’s total 

funds were €417,399 of which 

€219,947 were restricted funds and 

€197,452 were unrestricted funds. 

Unrestricted funds, considered 

Aidlink’s reserve funds, exceed 

Aidlink’s six month reserve policy, 

representing approximately 

13 months of operating costs. 

Due to the ongoing uncertainty 

and challenges in raising 

unrestricted funds the Board deem 

it prudent to maintain this level of 

reserves.  

Operational risk management

Aidlink’s new Risk Assessment 

policy, approved November 2021, 

adopted the Charities Regulator’s 

framework and now risk is reviewed 

formally at least biannually by 

the Board. Over the period of 

covid, risk was assessed monthly 

at board meetings. The Directors 

have reviewed and approved a risk 

register that scores risk based on 

an estimate of the likelihood of 

occurrence and the impact on the 

organisation with a bias towards 

high impact. The Aidlink risk register 

identifies risk under the themes of 

Governance, Strategic, Compliance, 

Operational HQ and Overseas, 

Financial, Environmental and 

Reputational. Three significant risks 

and their mitigation strategies are 

identified below: 

• Future levels of income 

 Aidlink is reliant on grants and 

donations to implement the 

Development Programme. 

When the number or value 

of grants is reduced, Aidlink’s 

capacity to deliver projects and 

programmes is compromised. 

The Board mitigate this risk 

with the prioritisation and 

implementation of a fundraising 

strategy, which includes 

exploring new opportunities 

from trusts, foundations, and 

philanthropists. The Directors 

adopted a new strategy in 

2021 covering the 2021-2024 

period. The annual budget and 

fundraising strategy have been 

amended to reflect the new Irish 

Aid 3-year grant and a one off 

grant from Bank of Ireland Staff 

Charitable Fund. 

• Loss of Irish Aid funding

 Irish Aid funding is, by its very 

nature, subject to national 

changes in government policy. 

The Directors have identified 

this as a risk as it could result in 

initiatives or activities supported 

by Aidlink are no longer 

supported by Irish Aid. Aidlink 

received notification from Irish 

Aid in May 2021 that it had been 

approved under the Civil Society 

fund scheme for an additional 

three-year period ending June 

2024. The funding is targeted 

at one partner one project in 

Kenya and Aidlink expects to 

draw down year 2 funding in 

August 2022. The Directors 

continue to focus on growing 

and diversifying fundraising to 

meet co-funding requirements 

of this grant and to support other 

partners and projects. 

• Incidence of Fraud

 The potential for fraud 

remains a significant risk to 

the organisation primarily 

due to the impact such an 

occurrence would have on public 

confidence in the organisation. 

The Directors mitigate this 

risk through implementation 

of whistle blowing anti-fraud 

policy, board review of monthly 

accounts, Aidlink annual audit 

and adherence to financial policy. 

Further, the Audit and Risk 

Subcommittee review partners’ 

financial reports, audited by 

independent auditors.

Financial risk management 

objectives and policies

Aidlink’s activities expose it to a 

number of financial risks including 

credit risk, cash flow risk and 

liquidity risk. Given the type and 

scale of the company’s activities, 

these risks are significantly lower 

than would occur in a commercial 

environment.

• Cash flow risk 

 The company’s activities expose 

it primarily to the financial risks 

of changes in foreign currency 

exchange rates – the primary 

exchange rate risk results from 

overseas partners’ programmes 

being denominated in non-euro 

currencies. The Directors believe 

it would be inappropriate to use 

derivative financial instruments 

as their costs would outweigh 

any advantages. Aidlink has some 

flexibility in timing of payments 

that allows it to mitigate the risk.

• Credit risk 

 The company’s principal financial 

assets are bank balances and cash 

and receivables. Aidlink’s credit 

risk is primarily attributable to its 

liquid funds. It is limited because 

the counterparties are banks 

with satisfactory credit-ratings 

assigned by international credit 

rating agencies with deposits 

insured under EU regulations.  

• Liquidity risk  

 The company’s reserve policies 

ensure that sufficient funds are 

available for ongoing operations 

and future developments. 

Further details regarding 

liquidity risk can be found in the 

accounting policies in Note 1 of 

the financial statements.

PLANS FOR THE FUTURE

2022 development programme

As Aidlink’s current Strategic Plan 

comes to an end, we are entering 

into a Strategic Planning process 

in the first half of 2022. Taking on 

learning from the KIQEP project 

evaluation recommendations, and 

inputs from key stakeholders, the 

aim is to strengthen and improve 

Aidlink’s strategic focus and 

development programming going 

forward.

Our wider Development Programme 

will maintain a focus on working 

with the poorest communities 

in Kenya and Uganda to support 

improved access to education, 

water and sanitation hygiene 

and improved livelihoods, with a 

particular emphasis on women and 

girls who face negative cultural 

practices on a daily basis. 

Following the success of Aidlink’s 

Irish Aid Civil Society Fund grant 

application, Every Girl in School 

(Kenya) is Aidlink’s key programme 

of work in 2022. The Every Girl in 

School project, in partnership with 

Girl Child Network in Kenya officially 

launched in July 2021, targeting 

a total of 60 schools and their 

communities over a 3-year period. 

The project has a focus on improved 

access to quality education, 

livelihoods, and capacity building 

support to local Community Based 

Organisations (CBOs).

A new, special 1 year project, 

supported by the Bank of Ireland 

Staff Charitable fund has launched in 

quarter two of 2022. ‘Let Girls Learn’ 

is based on learnings from KIQEP 

and targets 15 additional schools 

in Kenya (7 Turkana, 8 Kajiado). 

Activities have been expanded 

to include the construction of 

classrooms, dormitories, and water 

with the assumption that this large 

improvement in infrastructure will 

increase enrolment and retention in 

target schools. The dormitories will 

provide increased child protection, 

protecting girls from negative 

cultural traditions including FGM 

and early marriage. The provision of 

dormitories is in line with Kenyan 

Government policy, but due to 

limited budget this target has not 

been met.  

Aidlink hopes to expand our 

reach in Uganda and maintain 

and develop current partnerships 

with VAD, Caritas MADDO and 

new partner ARUWE. These 

partnerships will continue to 

target poorer communities with a 

gender, education and WASH focus 

through our shared values, goals 

and approaches to community 

development. 

Aidlink will continue and intensify 

efforts to explore, and develop new 

partnerships, including with smaller 

organisations that share Aidlink’s 

values and goals. We will continue 

to explore opportunities to renew 

partnerships with Caritas Lodwar 

(Kenya), as well as our Ghanian 

partners, on a project-by-project 

basis. 

Aidlink will re-establish immersion 

programmes in 2023 with Irish 

school partners. Aidlink continues 

to work with Irish school partners 

at a domestic level and appreciate 

their fundraising support despite not 

traveling.

2022 fundraising 

Fundraising is a key priority for 

the Board of Directors. A revised 

‘Fundraising strategy’ was adopted 
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in 2021 and includes the following 

objectives:

• Secure Irish Aid Civil Society 

Scheme funds for Every Girl in 

School 2021-2024

• Maintain relationships with FTCs 

and deepen funding pools where 

possible

• Expand Aidlink’s public reach and 

recognition to develop a strong, 

diverse pool of supporters 

• Continue to strengthen 

relationships with our immersion 

partner schools, all of which 

have continued to generously 

support Aidlink throughout the 

Covid-19 crisis despite immersion 

programme cancellations. 

STRUCTURE, GOVERNANCE AND 

MANAGEMENT 

Organisational structure 

Aidlink is governed by a Board 

of Directors who are responsible 

for providing leadership, setting 

strategy, and ensuring control. Day 

to day operations of the organisation 

are managed by the Chief Executive 

Officer (CEO) appointed by the 

Board. 

Two staff members report to the 

CEO: the Programme Officer with 

responsibility for partners and 

programmes and Fundraising and 

Communications Officer. Aidlink 

employs the expertise of external 

consultants where required.

Composition of the Board

The Board must comprise of 

between eight and twelve non-

executive Directors. During 2021, 

Aidlink’s Board had 11 serving 

members, comprised of four women 

and seven men. Their professional 

biographies are available on the 

Aidlink website https://aidlink.ie/

our-people/. In 2021, the Board met 

eleven times (2020: nine times) all 

eleven of these meetings were held 

virtually with an average attendance 

of 89% (2020: 95%). 

The Directors are committed to 

maintaining the highest standards 

of Corporate Governance and 

believe this is a critical to ensuring 

the proper operation of Aidlink’s 

activities. A core element of this 

policy is to ensure that the company 

is led by an effective Board and an 

experienced Chief Executive Officer. 

The role of Chairman and Chief 

Executive Officer are separate, and 

all Directors are independent of the 

management of Aidlink. 

Following approval by the Charities 

Regulator in February 2021, Aidlink 

formally adopted a new constitution 

in April 2021. Aidlink’s Governance 

Policy was updated in 2021 in line 

with the principals of The Charities 

Governance Code as set out by 

the Charities Regulatory Authority. 

Aidlink declared to the Charities 

Regulator it complies with all 

sections of the Charities Governance 

Code in September 2021. Aidlink 

carries out annual Board and Chief 

Executive Officer Performance 

reviews and has a comprehensive 

process for reporting management 

information including monthly 

management accounts. 

Board appointments 

Directors are recruited through 

a combination of both public 

advertising and internal networking. 

Candidates for appointment to the 

Board are prioritised based on the 

Board’s requirements for expertise 

from time to time: for example, in 

the areas of development, finance, 

fundraising or governance. It is 

intended that the Board should 

comprise of a balance of expertise 

and disciplines. Directors receive 

induction training upon selection 

and are subject to a six-month initial 

trial before formal appointment.

Directors are expected to serve a 

minimum term of three years. Under 

the Constitution of Aidlink, each 

director is required to submit him 

or herself for re-election every three 

years at the annual general meeting. 

All Directors may serve a maximum 

of three, three-year terms. 

At least two new Directors are 

appointed in each rolling three-year 

period and at least two current 

Directors step down so as to both 

maintain continuity and experience 

and enable the introduction of fresh 

insights to the Board. 

If there are no voluntary retirements 

from the Board necessary to meet 

this policy, the Chairman shall 

nominate the Directors who shall 

next retire, taking into account the 

objectives of this policy. Retiring 

Directors may be invited to become 

members of Aidlink, subject to 

approval by the Board. 

Following a targeted recruitment 

drive, Aishling Lennon, Annet Evera 

and Eoin Martin were appointed to 

the Board in September 2021. 

Committees of the Board

There is a clear division of roles and 

responsibilities at Aidlink. The Board 

retains responsibility for strategy, 

policy, and control of major decisions 

under a formal schedule of matters 

reserved to the Board. The Board 

delegate authority to the CEO for 

the day to day management of 

operations. 

Committees of the Board meet at 

least once per year (for membership 

of the committees see page 

44). Formal Terms of Reference 

(ToRs) are drafted and agreed 

for each subcommittee. Aidlink’s 

subcommittees and their remit are 

as follows:

• Audit and Risk Committee 

(Chaired by Liam Byrne, 

Treasurer)

 The Audit and Risk Committee 

assists the Board in discharging 

oversight responsibilities, 

monitoring risks to the 

organisation and overseeing the 

financial reporting process in 

order to review the transparency, 

balance, and integrity of 

 Aidlink’s published financial 

information. 

2021 achievements:

- New ToRs agreed

- New members

- Revised and updated Risk Policy 

- New Risk Register developed 

in line with the Charities 

Regulator guidance.

• Remuneration and Director 

Performance Review Committee 

(Chaired by Gemma Grimes)

 The Remuneration and Directors’ 

Performance Committee 

manages the remuneration and 

terms of employment of Aidlink 

staff. It also reviews Aidlink’s 

succession management and 

staff development plans. 

2021 Achievements:

- Assisted in recruitment.

• Governance and Nominations 

Committee (Chaired by Brian 

Ingarfield)

 The Governance and Nominations 

Committee ensure that the 

 Board and its committees have 

the appropriate balance of 

 skills, experience, independence, 

 and knowledge of the 

 company to enable them to 

discharge their respective duties 

 and responsibilities effectively.

2021 achievements:

- Active targeted recruitment 

plan

- Appointment of 3 new Board 

members

- Strengthening of 

subcommittees. 

• Programme Committee 

 (Chaired by Eoghan Caffrey)

 The Programme Committee 

provides guidance and advice on 

programme strategy. 

2021 achievements:

- Oversight of successful 

proposal submission to Irish 

Aid and Bank of Ireland Staff 

Charitable Fund

- Review panel for KIQEP 

evaluation

- Review and approval of new 

partner organisation ARUWE, 

Uganda.

• Fundraising Committee 

 (Chaired by Sean Crowe)

 The Fundraising Committee 

provides direction and leadership 

on the fundraising strategy. 

 2021 achievements:

- Updated ToR 

- Developed and adopted 

Fundraising strategy 

 2021-2024.

• Communications and 

Engagement Committee 

(Chaired by Sean Crowe) 

 2021 achievements:

- Established December 2021.

Pay policy for senior staff

The Directors consider that the 

Board of Directors and the CEO, 

who is not a member of the Board, 

comprise the key management 

personnel of Aidlink in charge of 

DIRECTORS’ REPORT 
For the financial year ended 31 December 2021
Continued

DIRECTORS’ REPORT 
For the financial year ended 31 December 2021
Continued



Aidlink Annual Report 2021  |  55Aidlink Annual Report 2021  |  54

directing and controlling, running, 

and operating the company on a day 

to day basis. 

With the exception of the CEO, all 

Directors give of their time freely and 

no director received remuneration 

in the year. While the Directors 

are entitled to reimbursement for 

vouched expenditure incurred in the 

performance of their duties, no such 

amount was claimed in 2021 or 

2020.

The pay of the CEO is reviewed 

annually by the Director 

Performance Review Committee. 

The salary of the other staff 

members is reviewed by the CEO in 

conjunction with the Remuneration 

Committee. Given the nature of the 

company, the Directors benchmark 

against pay levels in other non-profit 

organisations.

Networks and Consortia  

Aidlink is a member of Irish, 

Kenyan, Ugandan, and international 

development networks and 

consortia. Membership of such 

organisations is seen as a key 

vehicle for Aidlink’s macro level 

engagement and advocacy. In 

Ireland, Aidlink is a member of 

Dóchas - (the Irish Association of 

Non-Governmental Development 

Organisation), Charities 

Institute Ireland, the Wheel and 

is also a founding member of 

www.developmenteducation.ie. 

In Kenya and Uganda, Aidlink is a 

member of Pelum (Participatory 

Ecological Land Use Management).

INTERNAL CONTROLS 

The Directors acknowledge their 

overall responsibility for Aidlink’s 

systems of internal control and for 

reviewing its effectiveness. They 

have delegated responsibility for the 

implementation of this system to the 

CEO. This system includes financial 

controls, which enable the Board 

to meet its responsibilities for the 

integrity and accuracy of Aidlink’s 

accounting records.

The Board has established a process 

of compliance which addresses 

the Board’s wider responsibility to 

maintain, review and report on all 

internal controls, including financial 

and operational.

Key elements of internal control 

systems include:

• Aidlink has strict policies and 

procedures in place for the receipt, 

recording and control of donations 

received from private individuals 

and the corporate sector;

• Procedures and control systems 

are formally documented in a 

series of partnership and project 

agreements that are reviewed bi-

annually on a project by project 

basis;

• There is a formal organisational 

structure in place with clearly 

defined lines of responsibility, 

division of duties and delegation 

of authority;

• A detailed budget is prepared 

annually which is in line with 

the Strategic Plan and approved 

by the Board. Actual results and 

outcomes are compared regularly 

against budget and prior year to 

ensure alignment with budget, 

tight administration control, and 

value for money;

• The Audit Committee reports 

independently to the Board on all 

aspects of controls and risks; and

• The Board maintains a reserve 

policy that exceeds the minimum 

recommended for charities (three 

months reserves) to mitigate the 

increasing risks of the uncertain 

economy and to ensure 

sustainability of our services.

AUDIT FUNCTIONS

Aidlink uses the Xero accounting 

software package which is reviewed 

monthly. The management 

accounts were reviewed by the 

board eleven times in 2021 (2020: 

nine times). Aidlink is audited by 

ND Audit & Advisory and financial 

statements and annual reports 

are published online. Financial 

statements are prepared in line 

with SORP standards and the 

Companies Act 2014; the Directors’ 

Report identifies the principal 

risks facing the organisation and 

mitigation strategies; a disclosure 

statement on senior management 

salaries is included. Aidlink 

remains committed to further 

strengthening transparency and 

accountability in order to maintain 

trust with the public, donors, and 

partners.

TRANSPARENCY AND 

ACCOUNTABILITY

Aidlink is satisfied that no 

incidence of fraud or gross financial 

mismanagement has occurred in 

respect to Aidlink resources among 

partners or within the activities 

organised by the Dublin head office.  

Partners are externally audited by 

registered in-country auditors; audit 

reports and management letters 

are examined by Aidlink senior 

management and the treasurer in 

line with our financial policy. It is 

the current opinion of our partners’ 

independent auditors that their 

respective financial statements 

give a true and fair view of the state 

of affairs of each partner. Aidlink 

also reviews partners’ financial 

policies and procedures and holds 

independent discussions with 

partners’ financial managers as part 

of routine monitoring and evaluation 

processes. Review of partners other 

donors’ reports and audits provide 

further security regarding financial 

management procedures.

FUNDRAISING

Monitoring fundraising is a chief 

responsibility of all Directors as 

they are charged with ensuring 

the short-term and long-term 

viability of the company. Aidlink has 

formally adopted and adheres to 

the Charities Regulator’s Guidelines 

for Charitable Organisations on 

Fundraising from the Public.

DEVELOPMENT PROGRAMME

Strategic oversight of the 

Development Programme is a key 

responsibility of all Directors. The 

Board are responsible for monitoring 

partner performance, ensuring 

programme results are on-track and 

ensuring expenditure is in line with 

targets and budgets. The Directors 

also ensure that throughout the 

life-cycle of the Development 

Programme, outcomes continue 

to contribute of the organisation’s 

strategic objectives.

POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS 

Currently, all schools in Kenya and 

Uganda are open and functioning. 

However, there is considerable 

evidence of the impact of the 

prolonged school closures due to 

Covid-19. High enrolment rates 

in lower classes mask the lack of 

reenrolment in higher classes. There 

is evidence that communities have 

returned to traditional practices of 

Female Genital Mutilation (FGM) 

and early marriage, and dropout 

rates of higher classes reflect 

this. Aidlink continues to work 

with communities, through our 

partners, to combat these negative 

practices through both school and 

community engagement. 

The findings from the KIQEP 

evaluation will contribute to the 

strategic planning process which 

began in quarter two of 2022. The 

evaluation, along with stakeholder 

engagement will contribute to 

informing strategic priorities for 

the next 4 years. Aidlink’s strategic 

plan is scheduled to be complete in 

quarter 3 of this year.  

Following a competitive bid process, 

Aidlink have been awarded €350,000 

from The Bank of Ireland Staff 

Charitable Fund for a one year special 

project. While all of this grant is 

restricted funds it will allow Aidlink to 

broaden our footprint in Kenya and 

reach a further 4,000 at risk children 

in new target areas within Turkana 

and Kajiado. 

With the easing of restrictions on 

international travel, Aidlink held 

its first in person Monitoring & 

Evaluation trip in February 2022. 

Aidlink will return to Monitoring & 

Evaluation through bi-annual trips 

and update reports from partners.

Engagement with immersion 

partner schools is ongoing, currently 

there are early plans of immersion 

programmes for early 2023 and 2024 

should travel remain possible.

Aidlink’s Walk for Water campaign 

was revived in 2022 and has been very 

active with 19 schools participating. 

A well-received webinar was held 

with our Ugandan partners Caritas 

MADDO and ARUWE and attended 

by over 20 classes of students.

The Board has approved projections 

that anticipate a deficit on 

unrestricted funds of €12,300 for 

2022 while maintaining €248,757 
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in unrestricted reserves at end of 

2022. These funds will enable the 

company to meet its obligations 

under its agreement with Irish Aid 

in 2023 and beyond and to support 

other partners and projects.

ACCOUNTING RECORDS 

The Directors acknowledge their 

responsibilities under Section 281 

to 285 of the Companies Act 2014 to 

keep adequate accounting records 

for the company.

In order to comply with the 

requirements of the Act, appropriate 

personnel are employed. The 

accounting records of the company 

are kept at the registered office and 

principal place of business, Terenure 

Enterprise Centre, 17 Rathfarnham 

Road, Dublin 6W, D6W X921.

STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS’ 

RESPONSIBILITIES

The Directors are responsible for 

preparing the Directors’ Report 

and the financial statements in 

accordance with the Companies 

Act 2014 and the applicable 

regulations. 

Irish company law requires the 

Directors to prepare financial 

statements giving an accurate and 

fair view of the state of affairs of 

the company and the net income 

or expenditure of Aidlink for each 

financial year. Under that law, 

the Directors have elected to 

prepare the financial statements 

in accordance with FRS 102: the 

Financial Reporting Standard 

applicable to the UK and Republic of 

Ireland (‘relevant financial reporting 

framework’). Under company law, 

the Directors must not approve the 

financial statements unless they are 

satisfied that they give a true and 

fair view of the assets, liabilities and 

financial position as at the financial 

year end date and of the net income 

or expenditure of the company for 

the financial year and otherwise 

comply with the Companies Act 

2014.

In preparing these financial 

statements the Directors are 

required to: 

• Select suitable accounting 

policies for the company financial 

statements and then apply them 

consistently;

• Make judgments and accounting 

estimates that are reasonable 

and prudent; 

• State whether the financial 

statements have been prepared 

per the applicable accounting 

standards, identify those 

standards, and note the effect 

and the reasons for any material 

departure from those standards; 

and

• Prepare the financial statements 

on the going concern basis 

unless it is inappropriate to 

presume that Aidlink will 

continue in business.

The Directors are responsible for 

keeping adequate accounting 

records that disclose with 

reasonable accuracy at any time the 

financial position of the company 

and enable them to ensure that the 

financial statements comply with 

the Companies Act 2014. They are 

also responsible for safeguarding 

the assets of the charity and hence 

for taking reasonable steps for the 

prevention and detection of fraud 

and other irregularities. 

The Directors are responsible for 

the maintenance and integrity of the 

corporate and financial information 

included on the Aidlink’s website. 

Legislation in Ireland governing 

the preparation and dissemination 

of financial statements may 

differ from legislation in other 

jurisdictions.

GOING CONCERN 

The company’s activities as well 

as the related funding issues are 

set out elsewhere in this Directors’ 

Report. In particular, the new 

funding arrangements with Irish 

Aid require a commitment from 

Aidlink to meet expenditure from 

its own resources to fulfil the 

funding conditions agreed with 

Irish Aid. The Directors are satisfied 

that Aidlink will be able to meet 

the requirements of Irish Aid. In 

addition, they have concluded that 

they have a reasonable expectation 

that the company has adequate 

resources to continue its operational 

activities for the foreseeable 

future, being a period of twelve 

months from the date of approval 

of the financial statements. 

Accordingly, the Directors have 

continued to adopt the going 

concern basis of accounting in 

preparing the annual financial 

statements.

STATEMENT ON RELEVANT AUDIT 

INFORMATION

Under Section 330 of the Companies 

Act 2014, so far as each person 

who was a director at the date of 

approving this report is aware, there 

is no relevant audit information, 

being information needed by the 

auditor in connection with preparing 

its report, of which the auditor is 

unaware. Having made enquiries of 

fellow Directors, each director has 

taken all the steps he/she is obliged 

to take as a director to make himself/

herself aware of any relevant audit 

information and to establish that the 

auditor is aware of the information.
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AUDITORS

As a result of an internal 

re-organisation, Woods and Partners 

Limited resigned as auditors during 

the year. In their place Woods, 

Delaney & Partners Limited t/a 

ND Audit & Advisory took over as 

auditors.

In accordance with Section 383(2) 

of the Companies Act 2014, the 

auditors, Woods, Delaney & Partners 

Limited t/a ND Audit & Advisory will 

continue in office.

Signed on behalf of the Board:

John Lynch  Liam Byrne 

Director   Director 

Date: 13 June 2022
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT  
To the members of Aidlink

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT  
To the members of Aidlink
Continued

Opinion
We have audited the financial 

statements of Aidlink for the year 

ended 31 December 2021 which 

comprises the Statement of 

Financial Activities, the Balance 

Sheet, the Statement of Cash Flows, 

and the notes to the financial 

statements, including a summary 

of significant accounting policies. 

The financial reporting framework 

that has been applied in their 

preparation is applicable Irish law 

and Financial Reporting Standard 

102 "The Financial Reporting 

Standard applicable in the UK and 

Republic of Ireland".

This report is made solely to the 

Charity’s members. Our audit work 

has been undertaken so that we 

might state to the Charity’s members 

those matters we are required to 

state to them in an Auditors’ report 

and for no other purpose.

To the fullest extent permitted by 

law, we do not accept or assume 

responsibility to anyone other than the 

Charity and its members, as a body, for 

our audit work, for this report, or for 

the opinions we have formed.

In our opinion the financial 
statements:
• give a true and fair view of the 

assets, liabilities and financial 

position of the Charity’s affairs 

as at 31 December 2021 and 

of its incoming resources and 

application of resources, including 

its income and expenditure for 

the year then ended;

• have been properly prepared 

in accordance with Financial 

Reporting Standard 102 "The 

Financial Reporting Standard 

applicable in the UK and Republic 

of Ireland"; and

• have been prepared in accordance 

with the requirements of relevant 

legislation.

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in 

accordance with International 

Standards on Auditing (Ireland) 

(ISAs (Ireland)) and applicable law. 

Our responsibilities under those 

standards are further described 

in the Auditors' responsibilities 

for the audit of the financial 

statements section of our report.

We are independent of the Charity 

in accordance with the ethical 

requirements that are relevant 

to our audit of the financial 

statements in Ireland, including 

the Ethical Standard issued by 

the Irish Auditing and Accounting 

Supervisory Authority (IAASA) and 

we have fulfilled our other ethical 

responsibilities in accordance with 

these requirements. We believe that 

the audit evidence we have obtained 

is sufficient and appropriate to 

provide a basis for our opinion.

Conclusions relating to going concern
We have nothing to report in respect 

of the following matters in relation to 

which the ISAs (Ireland) require us to 

report to you where:

• the Directors' use of the going 

concern basis of accounting in 

the preparation of the financial 

statements is not appropriate; or

• the Directors’ have not disclosed 

in the financial statements any 

identified material uncertainties 

that may cast significant doubt 

about the Charity’s ability to 

continue to adopt the going 

concern basis of accounting for a 

period of at least twelve months 

from the date when the financial 

statements are authorised for issue.

Other information

The Directors are responsible for 

the other information. The other 

information comprises the information 

included in the Annual report, other 

than the financial statements and our 

Auditors' report thereon. Our opinion 

on the financial statements does not 

cover the other information and we 

do not express any form of assurance 

conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the 

financial statements, our responsibility 

is to read the other information and, in 

doing so, consider whether the other 

information is materially inconsistent 

with the financial statements or 

our knowledge obtained in the 

audit or otherwise appears to be 

materially misstated. If we identify 

such material inconsistencies or 

apparent material misstatements, we 

are required to determine whether 

there is a material misstatement 

in the financial statements or a 

material misstatement of the other 

information. If, based on the work we 

have performed, we conclude that 

there is a material misstatement of 

this other information, we are required 

to report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this 

regard.

Opinion on other matters
Based solely on the work 

undertaken in the course of the 

audit, we report that:

• in our opinion, the information 

given in the Directors' report 

is consistent with the financial 

statements; and

• in our opinion, the Directors' 

report has been prepared in 

accordance with applicable legal 

requirements.

We have obtained all the 

information and explanations which 

we consider necessary for the 

purposes of our audit.

In our opinion, the accounting 

records of the company were 

sufficient to permit the financial 

statements to be readily and 

properly audited, and financial 

statements are in agreement with 

the accounting records.

Matters on which we are required 
to report by exception
Based on the knowledge and 

understanding of the charity and its 

environment obtained in the course 

of the audit, we have not identified 

material misstatements in the 

Directors' report.

We have nothing to report whereby, 

in our opinion:

• the information given in the 

Directors' report is inconsistent 

in any material respect with the 

financial statements; or

• sufficient accounting records 

have not been kept; or

• the financial statements are not 

in agreement with the accounting 

records and returns; or

• we have not received all the 

information and explanations we 

require for our audit.

Responsibilities of Directors
As explained more fully in the 

Directors' responsibilities statement, 

the Directors are responsible for 

the preparation of the financial 

statements which give a true and 

fair view, and for such internal 

control as the Directors determine is 

necessary to enable the preparation 

of financial statements that are 

free from material misstatement, 

whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, 

the Directors are responsible for 

assessing the Charity's ability 

to continue as a going concern, 

disclosing, as applicable, matters 

related to going concern and 

using the going concern basis of 

accounting unless the Directors 

either intend to liquidate the Charity 

or to cease operations, or have no 

realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditors' responsibilities for the 
audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain 

reasonable assurance about 

whether the financial statements 

as a whole are free from material 

misstatement, whether due to fraud 

or error, and to issue an Auditors' 

report that includes our opinion. 

Reasonable assurance is a high level 

of assurance, but is not a guarantee 

that an audit conducted in

accordance with ISAs (Ireland) 
will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud 
or error and are considered material 
if, individually or in the aggregate, 
they could reasonably be expected 
to influence the economic decisions 
of users taken on the basis of these 
financial statements. 

A further description of our 
responsibilities for the audit of the 
financial statements is located on the 
IAASA's website at https://www.iaasa.
ie/getmedia/84d8add3-3eec-49fa-
999f-15287dc083d0/ISA-Ireland-700.
pdf. This description forms part of our 
Auditors’ report.

Use of our report
This report is made solely to the 
Charity's members, as a body. Our 
audit work has been undertaken 
so that we might state to the 
Charity's members those matters 
we are required to state to them 
in an Auditors' report and for no 
other purpose. To the fullest extent 
permitted by law, we do not accept or 
assume responsibility to anyone other 
than the Charity and its members, as a 
body, for our audit work, for this report, 
or for the opinions we have formed.

Noel Delaney FCA
for an on behalf of
Woods, Delaney & Partners Limited 
t/a ND Audit & Advisory
Chartered Accountants and 
Registered Auditor
Grattan Street
Portlaoise, Co. Laois

Date: 13 June 2022
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   Restricted  Unrestricted  Total  Total
   Funds  Funds   Funds  Funds
   2021  2021  2021  2020

 
  Notes €  €  € €

INCOME   

Donations and legacies  3 - 114,132 114,132 150,277

Charitable activities - Irish Aid  4 342,000 38,000 380,000 310,000

Charitable activities - Other  5 156,044 - 156,044 148,447

Total income   498,044 152,132 650,176 608,724

EXPENDITURE   

Raising funds  6  - (28,243) (28,243) (23,895)

Charitable activities  7  (452,850) (154,678) (607,528) (555,828)

Total expenditure    (452,850) (182,921) (635,771) (579,723)

Net income/(expenditure)   45,194 (30,789) 14,405 29,001

Transfers between funds  9 - - - -

Net movement in funds  17 45,194 (30,789) 14,405 29,001

Reconciliation of funds 

Total funds brought forward   174,753 228,241 402,994 373,993

Total funds carried forward   219,947 197,452 417,399 402,994

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL ACTIVITIES 
For the financial year ended 31 December 2021

BALANCE SHEET 
As at 31 December 2021

  2021  2020 

 Notes € €

FIXED ASSETS   

Tangible assets 14 2,354     4,418   

CURRENT ASSETS

Debtors 15 7,202 4,931

Cash at bank and in hand   416,738 408,980

  423,940 413,911

LIABILITIES   

Creditors: Amounts falling due within one year 16 (8,895) (15,335)

NET CURRENT ASSETS  415,045 398,576

NET ASSETS  417,399 402,994

    
REPRESENTED BY:   

Accumulated funds – restricted                              17 219,947 174,753

Accumulated funds – unrestricted 17 197,452 228,241

Designated fund – unrestricted  17 - -

  417,399 402,994

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 13 June 2022 and signed on its behalf by:

John Lynch Liam Byrne

Director Director
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
For the financial year ended 31 December 2021

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the financial year ended 31 December 2021

  2021  2020 

 Notes € €

OPERATING ACTIVITIES   

Net cash used in operating activities 18 7,758     40,956   

INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Interest received  - -

Purchase of tangible fixed assets   - -

NET CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES  - -

INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS  7,758 40,956

ANALYSIS OF CHANGES IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

   €

Balance at 1 January 2020                                371,946

Cashflow for the year   37,034

Balance at 1 January 2021    408,980

Cashflow for the year   7,758

Balance at 31 December 2021   416,738

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Aidlink accounts are presented in euro. 

The significant accounting policies 

adopted by Aidlink are as follows:

General information

Aidlink is a company incorporated 

in Ireland under the Companies Act 

2014. The company is a company 

limited by guarantee not having 

a share capital (CLG) under Part 

18 of the Companies Act 2014. The 

address of the registered office 

is Terenure Enterprise Centre, 17 

Rathfarnham Road, Terenure, Dublin 

6W, D6W X921. The company’s 

operations and its principal activities 

are set out in the Director’s Report 

on pages 44 to 57. 

Basis of preparation 

The financial statements have been 

prepared under the historical cost 

convention and in accordance with:

• Accounting and Reporting 

by Charities: Statement of 

Recommended Practice 

applicable to charities preparing 

their financial statements in 

accordance with the Financial 

Reporting Standard applicable 

in the UK and Republic of Ireland 

(Charities SORP (FRS 102));

• The Financial Reporting Standard 

applicable in the UK and 

Republic of Ireland (FRS 102); and

• Irish statute comprising the 

Companies Act 2014.

As permitted by section 291(3)(4) 

of the Companies Act 2014, the 

company has varied the standard 

format specified in that Act for the 

Statement of Financial Activities, 

the Balance Sheets and Cash Flow 

Statement. Departures from the 

standard formats, as outlined in the 

Companies Act 2014, are to comply 

with the requirements of the Charities 

SORP (FRS 102) and are in compliance 

with sections 4.7, 10.6 and 15.2 of 

that SORP. The Charities SORP is a 

statement of recommended practice 

that sets out how charities should 

set their annual financial statements 

and report on their finances. 

The SORP is an interpretation of 

the underlying financial reporting 

standards and generally accepted 

accounting practice. The SORP 

is approved by the UK Accounting 

Standards Board and is overseen by 

expert members drawn from the 

four charity law jurisdictions covered 

by UK-Irish GAAP. 

Financial reporting in line with the 

Charities SORP (FRS 102) is considered 

best practice for charities in Ireland.  

As noted above, the Directors 

consider the adoption of the Charities 

SORP (FRS 102) requirements as the 

most appropriate accounting practice 

and presentation to fairly reflect and 

disclose the activities of the company.

Income

Income is analysed according to the 

activity that produced the resources 

as follows:

• Donations and legacies

 Donations and legacies include 

all income received by Aidlink 

that is, in substance, a gift made 

to the company on a voluntary 

basis. It is accounted for when 

there is evidence of entitlement, 

receipt is probable, and the 

amount can be measured 

reliably. As with similar charitable 

organisations, independent 

groups from time to time 

organise fundraising activities.  

However, as amounts collected 

this way are outside the control 

of Aidlink, they are not included 

in the financial statements until 

received by Aidlink.

• Charitable activities 

 Income from charitable activities 

includes income earned from 

performance related grants 

that specify the activities to 

be delivered by Aidlink. It is 

accounted for when amounts 

receivable on grant and funding 

applications are approved or 

paid.

• Investment

 Investment income is accounted 

for on a receipts basis.

Restricted funds

Income received by Aidlink, the 

application of which is restricted 

to a specific purpose by the donor, 

is treated as restricted funds and 

any unspent amounts as restricted 

assets. Such specified purposes 

are within the overall aims of the 

organisation.

Unrestricted funds

Other income, apart from restricted 

funds, is used by Aidlink in the 

furtherance of its work and 

objectives. Such funds may be held 
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in order to finance administration 

expenses or may be used at the 

discretion of the organisation for 

specified purposes that are within 

the aims of the organisation.

Expenditure

Resources expended are analysed 

between raising funds and 

expenditure on charitable activities. 

Raising funds and expenditure on 

charitable activities are accounted 

for on an accrual basis.

• Raising funds

 Expenditure on raising funds 

includes all expenditure incurred 

by Aidlink to raise funds for its 

charitable activities.

• Charitable activities

 Expenditure on charitable 

activities includes all costs 

incurred by Aidlink in 

undertaking activities that 

further its charitable aims, 

including those support costs 

and costs relating to governance 

of the company.

• Support costs 

 Support costs are directly 

allocated to the related activity 

where possible. Otherwise 

support costs are allocated on 

the basis of staff time. 

Foreign currencies

Revenues and costs arising from 

transactions denominated in foreign 

currencies are translated into Euro 

at the rates of exchange ruling on 

the date on which the transaction 

occurred.

Assets and liabilities denominated in 

foreign currencies are translated into 

Euro at the rates of exchange ruling on 

the balance sheet date. The resulting 

surplus or deficit are dealt with in the 

statement of financial activities.

Cash at bank and in hand

Cash at bank and in hand comprises 

cash on hand and demand deposits.

Fixed assets and depreciation 

Fixed assets are recorded at cost.

Depreciation is provided so as to 

write off the cost of fixed assets over 

their expected useful lives at the 

following annual rates:

Office equipment 10% straight line

Computer equipment 20% straight line

Operating leases

Annual operating leases are charged 

to the statement of financial activities 

in the year that they are paid.

Financial instruments

Aidlink only has financial assets 

and financial liabilities of a kind 

that qualify as basic financial 

instruments. Basic financial 

instruments are initially recognised 

at transaction value and 

subsequently measured at their 

settlement value.  

2. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING 

JUDGEMENTS AND KEY 

SOURCES OF ESTIMATION 

 AND UNCERTAINTY 

In the application of Aidlink’s 

accounting policies, the Directors 

are required to make judgements, 

estimates and assumptions about 

the carrying amounts of assets and 

liabilities that are not readily apparent 

from other sources. Given the scale 

of the company’s activities and the 

quantum of the individual items 

contained within assets and liabilities, 

these judgements, estimates, and 

assumptions are generally immaterial 

to the financial statements. Where 

such a judgement, estimation or 

assumption is material, it is disclosed in 

the notes to the financial statements.

Going concern

The company has entered into 

a three year funding agreement 

with Irish Aid. As part of that 

agreement, Aidlink must meet 

certain conditions, including the 

expenditure of funds from non-

Irish Aid sources. The directors 

are satisfied that Aidlink will be 

able to meet the conditions of the 

Irish Aid funding agreement. The 

company’s activities as well as the 

related funding uncertainties are 

set out in the Directors’ Report. As 

is explained more fully in Plans for 

the Future and Going Concern in 

the Directors’ Report, the Directors 

have a reasonable expectation 

that the company has adequate 

resources to continue its operational 

activities for the foreseeable future, 

being a period of twelve months 

from the date of approval of the 

financial statements. Accordingly, 

the Directors have continued to 

adopt the going concern basis of 

accounting in preparing the annual 

financial statements.
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3. DONATIONS AND LEGACIES 

 Restricted Unrestricted Total  Restricted  Unrestricted Total
 Funds Funds Funds  Funds   Funds  Funds
 2021 2021 2021  2020  2020  2020
 
 € € €  €  € €
VOLUNTARY INCOME   

Immersion programme costs - - - 8,400 - 8,400

Immersion schools income  - 36,052 36,052 - 68,548 68,548

Other donors and regular 
givers - 78,080 78,080 - 73,279 73,279

Subtotal - 114,132 114,132 8,400 141,827 150,227

ACTIVITIES FOR
GENERATING FUNDS

Community fundraising - - - - 50 50

Subtotal - - - - 50 50

Total income from 
donations and legacies - 114,132 114,132 8,400 141,877 150,277

4. CHARITABLE ACTIVITIES – IRISH AID 

 Restricted Unrestricted Total  Restricted  Unrestricted Total
 Funds Funds Funds  Funds   Funds  Funds
 2021 2021 2021  2020  2020  2020
 
 € € €  €  € €
IRISH AID   

Inclusive Quality Education –   - - - 279,000 - 279,000
Kenya

Every Girl In School – Kenya 342,000 - 342,000 - - -

Programme quality - - - - 31,000 31,000

Programme support - 38,000 38,000 - - -

Total 342,000 38,000 380,000 279,000 31,000 310,000

The grant from Irish Aid has been allocated to the following partners:

Girl Child Network (Kenya) 334,650  - 334,650  273,000 -  273,000

Programme quality  -  - -  6,000 31,000  37,000

Programme support  7,350  38,000 45,350  -  - -

Total 342,000  38,000 380,000  279,000 31,000  310,000
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5. CHARITABLE ACTIVITIES – OTHER

     Restricted  Unrestricted  Total
     Funds   Funds  Funds
     2021  2021  2021
    €  € €

Bank of Ireland Staff Third World Fund    96,990 - 96,990

Dublin City Council Staff World Development Fund   8,015 - 8,015

Electric Aid    40,539 - 40,539

INTO Solidarity Fund    2,000 - 2,000

Staff of HSE Assoc. for Relief of Poverty    8,500 - 8,500

Total    156,044 - 156,044

Grants noted above have been allocated to the following partners:

Caritas MADDO (Uganda)    26,126 - 26,126

Girl Child Network (Kenya)     120,342 - 120,342

ARUWE     9,576 - 9,576

Total     156,044 - 156,044

    Restricted  Unrestricted  Total
     Funds   Funds  Funds
     2020  2020  2020

    €  € €

ASTI Development Aid Fund    4,280 - 4,280

Bank of Ireland Staff Third World Fund    86,114 - 86,114

Electric Aid    44,142 - 44,142

Staff of HSE Assoc. for Relief of Poverty    8,678 - 8,678

Wild Geese    5,233 - 5,233

Total    148,447 - 148,447

Grants noted above have been allocated to the following partners:

Amani Kibera (Kenya)     2,283 - 2,283

Girl Child Network (Kenya)     115,214 - 115,214

St. Paul’s Parish- Turkana (Kenya)     2,950 - 2,950

Voluntary Action for Development (Uganda)    28,000 - 28,000

Total     148,447 - 148,447

6. RAISING FUNDS  
 Restricted Unrestricted Total  Restricted  Unrestricted Total
 Funds Funds Funds  Funds   Funds  Funds
 2021 2021 2021  2020  2020  2020

 € € €  €  € €
   

Fundraising expenses - (947) (947) - (1,088) (1,088)

Support costs (Note 10) - (27,296) (27,296) - (22,807) (22,807)

Total - (28,243) (28,243) - (23,895) (23,895)

7. CHARITABLE ACTIVITES  
   Activities  Grant  Support Total
   Undertaken  Funding of   Costs  Funds
   Directly Activities  (Note 10)  2021
   €  €  € €
2021   

Inclusive Quality Education – Kenya   - (149,439) (36,031) (185,470)

Every Girl In School – Kenya   - (255,715) (64,055) (319,770)

Community Development Project – Uganda  - (47,696) (36,395) (84,091)

Development Education   - - (18,197) (18,197)

Total    - (452,850) (154,678) (607,528)

Restricted   - (452,850) - (452,850)

Unrestricted   - - (154,678) (154,678)

Total   - (452,850) (154,678) (607,528)
  

   Activities  Grant  Support Total
   Undertaken  Funding of   Costs  Funds
   Directly Activities  (Note 10)  2020

   €  €  € €
2020   

Inclusive Quality Education – Kenya   (50) (349,043) (83,630) (432,723)

Community Development Project – Uganda  - (25,435) (15,206) (40,641)

Covid – Kibera   - (1,538) - (1,538)

Development Education   (50,515) - (30,411) (80,926

Total    (50,565) (376,016) (129,247) (555,828)

Restricted   (50,515) (376,016) - (426,531)

Unrestricted   (50) - (129,247) (129,297)

Total   (50,565) (376,016) (129,247) (555,828)
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8. CHARITABLE ACTIVITES – GRANT FUNDING OF ACTIVITIES  

 Irish Aid Other Total  Irish Aid  Other Total
 Funds Funds Funds  Funds   Funds  Funds
 2021 2021 2021  2020  2020  2020

 € € €  €  € €
   

St. Paul’s Community 
Turkana (Kenya) - - - - (2,918) (2,918)

Girl Child Network (Kenya)  (334,650) (70,504) (405,154) (273,000) (73,125) (346,125)

Caritas MADDO (Uganda) - (10,025) (10,025) - - -

Voluntary Action for
Development (Uganda)  - (28,070) (28,070) - (25,435) (25,435)

ARUWE - (9,601) (9,601) - - -

Amani Kibera (Kenya) - - - - (1,538) (1,538)

Total (334,650) (118,200) (452,850) (273,000) (103,016) (376,016)

10. SUPPORT COSTS  

Basis of allocation is time:   Community
  Education Development
 Raised Project  Project  Development  Total
 Funds Kenya Uganda  Education   Funds
 2021 2021 2021  2021  2021
 € € €  €  € 
   
Salaries & staff costs  (20,109) (73,734) (26,812) (13,406) (134,061)

Office expenses (4,299) (15,765) (5,733) (2,866) (28,663)

Website & IT (777) (2,848) (1,036) (518) (5,179)

Repairs & depreciation (533) (1,953) (710) (355) (3,551)

Governance (1,578) (5,786) (2,104) (1,052) (10,520)

Total (27,296) (100,086) (36,395) (18,197) (181,974) 

  
    Community
   Education Development
  Raised Project  Project  Development  Total
  Funds Kenya Uganda  Education   Funds
  2020 2020 2020  2020  2020

  € € €  €  € 
   
Salaries & staff costs   (16,543) (60,659) (11,029) (22,058) (110,289) 

Office expenses  (3,944) (14,463) (2,630) (5,259) (26,296)

Website & IT  (742) (2,722) (495) (990) (4,949)

Repairs & depreciation  (715) (2,622) (477) (954) (4,768)

Governance  (863) (3,164) (575) (1,150) (5,752)

Total  (22,807) (83,630) (15,206) (30,411) (152,054) 

Governance costs included above can be analysed as follows:    

 Restricted Unrestricted Total  Restricted  Unrestricted  Total
 Funds Funds Funds Funds  Funds   Funds
 2021 2021 2021 2020  2020 2020

 € € € €  €  € 
   
Professional audit fees  - (4,931) (4,931) - (5,186) (5,186) 

Catering - - - - (38) (38)

Annual report - (5,554) (5,554) - (488) (488)

CRO - (35) (35) - (40) (40)

Total - (10,520) (10,520) - (5,752) (5,752)

9. TRANSFERS  

No transfers occurred in 2021 (2020: €150,000 designated reserve to unrestricted funds).
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11. EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION
  
 
 2021  2020 
 Number Number

Administration 3     3

  
 2021  2020

 € €

The staff costs comprised of:  

Salaries 117,175 95,430

Social welfare costs 13,536 9,020

Employer pension contribution 3,350 5,839

Total  134,061 110,289

 2021  2020

 Number Number

Number of employees whose total employee
benefits fall within the band €60,000 to €69,999. 1     1   

Aidlink’s Chief Executive Officer’s salary is €66,744 and she was paid €66,744 in 2021 (2020: €51,353). 

The CEO receives contributory pension benefit to the value of €3,350 per annum. There are no other employees 

whose total employee benefits exceed €60,000. Payroll costs are allocated to expenditure headings in 

accordance with the employee’s time inputs. 

12. NET INCOME
  
 
 2021  2020 
 € €

Net income is stated after charging:  

Directors’ remuneration and emoluments - -

Depreciation 2,064 2,064

Auditors’ remuneration 4,920  €4,840

   
and after crediting:  

Interest income - -

   

Auditors’ remuneration disclosure (excluding Value Added Tax):  

Audit 4,000 4,000

Tax advisory services - -

Other assurance services - -

Other non-assurance services - -

Directors are entitled to reimbursement for vouched expenditure incurred in the performance of their duties. 

The amount charged in 2021 was € nil (2020: € nil).

13.  TAXATION

There is no charge to taxation in respect of the organisation as Aidlink has been granted charitable status under 

Section 207 of the Consolidated Tax Act, 1997, therefore no provision for taxation has been made.
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14. FIXED ASSETS   
    
 Office   Computer  
 Equipment  Equipment  Total
 €  € €

Cost   

At 1 January 2021 4,215 14,913 19,128

Additions - - -

At 31 December 2021 4,215 14,913 19,128

Depreciation

At 1 January 2021 4,215 10,495 14,710

Charge in year - 2,064 2,064

Disposals - - -

At 31 December 2021 4,215 12,559 16,774

Net book value    
  

At 31 December 2021 - 2,354 2,354

At 31 December 2020 - 4,418 4,418

15. DEBTORS:  (Amounts falling due within one year) 
    
   2021  2020

   € €

   

Debtors and accrued income  7,202 4,931

16. CREDITORS:  (Amounts falling due within one year) 
    
   2021  2020

   € €

   

PAYE/PRSI  3,127 9,570

Accruals  5,768 5,765

Total  8,895 15,335

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the financial year ended 31 December 2021
Continued

18. RECONCILIATION OF NET INCOME TO NET CASH FROM/(USED IN)  CHARITABLE ACTIVITIES

    
   2021  2020

   € €

   
Net income/(expenditure)  14,405 29,001

Movement in funds before financial activities  14,405 29,001

Depreciation charge  2,064 2,064

(Increase)/decrease in debtors  (2,271) 3,670

(Decrease)/increase in creditors  (6,440) 6,221

Net Cash outflow from charitable activities  7,758 40,956

17. MOVEMENT IN FUNDS  

   Restricted  Unrestricted  Designated  Total
   Funds Funds  Fund  Funds
   €  €  € €
Funds of the Charity   

Balance at 1 January 2021   174,753 228,241 - 402,994

Income   498,044 152,132 - 650,176

Expenditure   (452,850) (182,921) - (635,771)

Transfers   - - - -

Balance at 31 December 2021   219,947 197,452 - 417,399

ANALYSIS OF NET ASSETS BETWEEN FUNDS

   Restricted  Unrestricted  Designated  Total
   Funds Funds  Fund  Funds
   €  €  € €
   

Tangible fixed assets   - 2,354 - 2,354

Current assets   219,947 203,993 - 423,940

Current liabilities   - (8,895) - (8,895)

Balance at 31 December 2021   219,947 197,452 - 417,399
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19. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS 

Aidlink moved premises in October 2021 and has entered into a licence agreement with Terenure Enterprise 

Centre. License is renewable on a monthly basis and as such has no outstanding commitment to a non-

cancellable operating lease. Previous commitment of €10,125 expired on October 1 2021. 

20. RELATED PARTIES 

Included in donations is an amount of €17,887 (2020: €10,024) received from Directors of the company with no 
conditions attaching. There are no other related party transactions.

21.  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

The carrying value of the company’s financial assets and liabilities are summarised by category below:
   

 2021  2020 
 € €

FINANCIAL ASSETS  

Measured at undiscounted amount receivable 
Debtors and accrued income (see note 15) 7,202 4,931

   
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES  

Measured at undiscounted amount payable 
PAYE/PRSI/USC (see note 16) (3,127) (9,570) 
 

22. POST BALANCE SHEET 
EVENTS 

The interference of Covid-19 

on operations is abating; schools 

in Uganda re-opened in January 

2022 after almost 2 years, 

we carried out our first in person 

monitoring visit to Kenya 

in March 2022 and in person 

fundraising events are possible 

again. 

An external evaluation of the 

Kenya Inclusive Quality Education 

Project (KIQEP 2018-2021) was 

completed by Aran Corrigan 

in the first quarter of 2022, key 

findings welcomed by the Board 

include:

• KIQEP delivered strong results 

at outcome level, with targeted 

schools assessed as achieving 

higher rates of re-enrolment 

post Covid-19 closures than 

non-project schools. 

• Stakeholders interviewed 

spoke of the positive impacts 

the project brought to their 

communities. They spoke 

of increased enrolment and 

a gradual shift in attitudes 

around the value of education 

which has resulted in families 

sending children to school. 

The model of Rights of Child 

clubs, Board of Managements 

and Community Facilitators 

working collaboratively is 

compelling and holds great 

potential.

• The delivery of KIQEP was 

timely and efficient, it fully 

delivered against its work plan 

and budget in years 1 and 

2 and over-delivered in year 

3. The project demonstrated 

capacity to deliver, adapt and 

achieve targets, in spite of 

challenging operating context 

caused by Covid-19. It is due 

 to the efficacy of the project 

that such high numbers 

returned to school, although 

the full impact of Covid-19 and 

the prolonged school closure 

could not be assessed.

(Aran Corrigan, March 2022) 

The evaluation report included 

a number of key recommendations. 

Some operational recommendations 

have already been adopted 

and others are being considered 

as part of Aidlink’s ongoing 

Strategic Planning Process, due 

for completion in Q3 2022. 

Key learnings from KIQEP have 

been incorporated into Aidlink’s 

current Every Girl in School (EGIS) 

project, co-funded by Irish Aid 

(2021-2024). Year 1 of Every Girl 

in School is being delivered in 

the context of the Ukraine war 

which is squeezing supplies and 

driving up prices of food and 

fuel. This, in combination with 

the protracted drought in Kenya, 

increasing inflation rates and 

deteriorating exchange rates, 

further exposes the vulnerabilities 

of the communities we work in, 

particularly Turkana which is most 

impacted by the current drought.  

Despite this uncertain context year 

1 targets remain on track. 

We are delighted to announce 

that Aidlink have been awarded 

the Bank of Ireland Staff 

Charitable Fund’s ‘Flagship 

Project’ grant of €350,000 for a 

new ‘Let Girls Learn’ project to be 

delivered in partnership with our 

key partner in Kenya the Girl Child 

Network. The project, targeting 

15 public primary schools in the 

hardest to reach areas of Kajiado 

and Turkana counties, will improve 

basic infrastructure with the 

addition of classrooms and two 

dormitories for girls, one in each 

county, providing a safe space for 

girls during both school term and 

holiday period, protecting them 

from negative cultural traditions 

including FGM and early marriage. 

The grant for Let Girls Learn is 

to be released in three tranches, 

€200,000 of which has been 

received in April 2022.

Aidlink is very happy to have re-

established operations in Uganda 

with our longstanding partner 

Caritas MADDO working to increase 

access to safer cleaner water for 

rural communities in Masaka district. 

Further, we plan to strengthen 

relations with new partner ARUWE, 

focusing on empowering women 

and girls’ education. 
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Aidlink is preparing to mark its 

40th anniversary (2022) with 

a series of events focusing on 

sharing our learning, experience, 

and best practices, celebrating our 

partners and achievements, and 

setting out our plans for the future.  

The directors of Aidlink are 

grateful for the continued support 

of Irish Aid, Bank of Ireland Staff 

Charitable Fund, and all our 

donors private and corporate. 
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